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Executive Directors
Chi Wen Fu (Chairman)
Chi Jing Chao

Non-executive Director
Guo Mengyong

Independent Non-executive Directors
Cheung Sound Poon

Sheng Hong

Shen Yi Min*

Company Secretary
Luk Sai Wai, Simon
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Audit Committee

Cheung Sound Poon (Committee Chairman)
Sheng Hong

Shen Yi Min*

Nomination Committee

Chi Wen Fu (Committee Chairman)
Cheung Sound Poon

Sheng Hong
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Cheung Sound Poon (Committee Chairman)
Sheng Hong

Shen Yi Min*

Chi Jing Chao

* Appointed on 1 January 2022
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HEAD OFFICE

16th Floor, Tower 5, The Gateway
Harbour City

Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon

Hong Kong

Telephone : (852) 2802 2165

Fax . (852) 2802 2697
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AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Hong Kong Certified Public Accountants

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China Limited
Bank of China Limited
DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
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LISTING INFORMATION

Listing : Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”)
Stock code : 509

SHARE INFORMATION

Company’s shares of : 4,5681,116,843 Shares
HK$0.02 each
(the “Shares”) in issue

(31 December 2021)

Market capitalisation t HK$128,271,271

(81 December 2021)
Board lot size : 5,000 Shares

LOSS PER SHARE FOR 2021

1 HK24.48 cents
: HK24.48 cents

Basic
Diluted

DIVIDEND PER SHARE FOR 2021

- HK$Nil
- HK$Nil

Interim
Final (proposed)
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‘ ‘ In response to the new demand arising from
the development of the agricultural industry in
the new era, the Group must accelerate its product
upgrade, pursue its technology innovation, and
enhance its core competitiveness to achieve sustainable
development of the enterprise. I i

I would like to thank all for the unfailing support and total confidence in Century Sunshine Group Holdings
Limited (the “Company” and together with its subsidiaries, “Century Sunshine” or the “Group”). On behalf of the
board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company, | am pleased to present the annual results for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year”) of the Group for the perusal of our stakeholders.

INDUSTRY REVIEW

In 2021, with the continued spread of the pandemic worldwide, as well as the sporadic outbursts and regional
clusters of COVID-19 cases in China, the world was confronted with severe and complex prevention and control
challenges. The emergence of new variants such as Delta and Omicron cast a shadow over the recovery of the
global economy. The energy crisis, extreme weather, and frequent natural disasters have impacted all industries,
among which the agricultural industry was no exception.

In 2021, the surge in energy prices also led to a substantial increase in commodity prices. For example, the price
of Urea in Europe recorded a year-on-year increase of over 270%, while the price of chemical fertiliser reached
a historical record high for the last ten years. In addition, in light of the “Barometer of Completion of the Dual
Control of Total Energy Consumption and Energy Intensity in All regions in H12021” (20214 | 3 4 % i [% 88 5
T HIEEK B RB R ]) (the “Dual Control of Total Energy Consumption and Energy Intensity” policy) issued
by the Chinese government, fertiliser producers in certain regions reduced output, suspended production, or
implemented equipment transformation and upgrade.

Due to several negative factors resulting from the sustained and repeated pandemic, the “Dual Control of
Total Energy Consumption and Energy Intensity” policy, and the rising raw material prices, the production and
operation of fertiliser suppliers were affected. Meanwhile, the market resists high price. Most of the distributors
and farmers adopted a wait-and-see approach due to the sharply increased fertilisers' prices as a result of rising
raw material prices. The poor market performance in peak season and the dampened transaction sentiment put
fertiliser producers under great pressure.

"
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PROMOTING PRODUCT UPGRADE AND INNOVATION

The development pattern of the PRC economy has undergone profound changes by shifting
from high growth to high-quality development. At the same time, the fertiliser industry has
also entered into a critical stage of transformation towards the new development pattern,
the optimised economic structure, and the new source of growth. Against the backdrop of
achieving “Carbon Peak and Carbon Neutrality”, efforts have been made to promote
the healthy development of the fertiliser industry through technology empowerment and
environmental protection. Since its establishment in 2000, the Group has been committed
to developing and promoting new green fertilisers, which was in line with the national
policies of “Zero Growth of Chemical Fertilisers Use” and “Replacing Chemical Fertilisers
with Organic Fertilisers”, as well as the green and low-carbon development strategy. In
response to the new demand arising from the development of the agricultural industry
in the new era, the Group must accelerate its product upgrade, pursue its technology
innovation, and enhance its core competitiveness to achieve sustainable development
of the enterprise. In 2021, the Group has launched a number of new products and new
series such as seaweed fertilisers, humic acid fertilisers, water-soluble fertilisers, and liquid
fertilisers. The functional fertilisers are mainly used to improve soil ecology, boost crop
quality and increase the effectiveness of fertilisers. Applying functional elements such as
alginic acid, humic acid, and polyglutamic acid to the traditional formula will improve the
quality and effectiveness of fertiliser products. In addition, water-soluble fertilisers and
liquid fertilisers allow simultaneous application of water and fertilisers. The deep placement
of fertilisers with water downward infiltrating achieves the water and fertiliser integration. It
significantly improves the efficiency of fertiliser conversion, increases the effectiveness of
fertilisers, reduces water consumption, and cuts labour costs. Thereby it addresses the soil
issue, meets the needs of crop growth, and satisfies the farmers’ expectation for fertiliser
effectiveness.

FACILITATING DEVELOPMENT OF MAGNESIUM
PRODUCT SEGMENT

The Group’s another main segment, the magnesium product business, is operated by
the Group’s subsidiary, Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
(“REMT”). In light of the sharp fluctuations in magnesium price as a result of the substantial
increase in raw materials’ costs and the implementation of the “Dual Control of Total
Energy Consumption and Energy Intensity” policy, the customers adopted a wait-and-see
approach and became cautious in placing new orders, leading to the weakened market
demand. Although the magnesium industry may be under pressure in the short term, the
trend of expanding the application of magnesium-related products in the downstream
industries will not be affected. The magnesium will facilitate the lightweight transformation
of downstream products to achieve energy conservation and emission reduction, in turn
contributing to the goal of “Carbon Peak and Carbon Neutrality” set by the Chinese
government. Xinjiang Tengxiang, a subsidiary of REMT, was recognised as a national
“High and Advanced Technology Enterprise”’. It owns 22 technical patents of the
production technology and manufacturing methods for high-performance magnesium
alloys, and adopts the innovative vertical retorts smelting technology, operating with
satisfactory effect. It has been encouraged and promoted repeatedly by the Ministry of
Industry and Information Technology and other authorities of the Chinese government.

REMT applied the appointment of the provisional liquidators to the Supreme Court of
Bermuda (the “Bermuda Court”) in July 2020. After its efforts over the past one and a half
years, the creditors’ scheme proposed by REMT was approved by the requisite statutory
majorities of the scheme creditors on 1 March 2022. Subsequently, REMT will be taken out
of provisional liquidation according to the procedures and requirements of the Bermuda

Court and other relevant statutory authorities, and returned to a healthy development state.

13



14

HEEREEZERER AT Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited

TRHEE

Chairman’s Statement

RE-TBXBAM B L5 X |

FEBAEM(P AP RERNEEREENLERRETHEARLFREAM_O=AFESBEENER) TR
[(HEECRRERE(CMEIRFRRE]  PEEMTEREBRRRERNSLLEECAERER  HBRR AN
MR ER AEEREERTHESELREMNTL  ROREBEALETRIENEMES  E—FRS
BRMeIFAE HESR ER HELSHERER  BARCRBEKT BEBBRX]=ZTHFORES
8h #&IGAXBAMN  EBHYEX] -

&)

AABRRAEBHERR EFENE TP ROILKGEBHANZEBRC —BEARBAEENAIIFR
RO BERANERNMERRTHROBY  HEE2RETNHEURRNBUARBOH Z - 2022F -
ARRGEEETRN - ERMEHEEANEH R TEEREIMLSED - FAFPRER  EERPRAR -
AL BAORMAMEREEFREN - HAIEHT |

MXE
FIE

FB - 2022F3A31H




3 2021 ANNUAL REPORT 15

TRHSE

Chairman’s Statement

PROSPECT-CREATING A BRIGHTER FUTURE

As stated in the “Central Committee of the Communist Party of China’s Proposal on Formulating the 14th
Five-year Plan on National Economic and Social Development and the Long-Range Goals for 2035” ({/ £
RERHETERECENMESEHRETHNEAFREM_O=AFRSEZMER)) issued by the Chinese
government, efforts shall be made to reduce the use of chemical fertilisers and pesticide, and to enhance soll
contamination treatment. The fertiliser industry in China accordingly adopts a general policy of achieving negative
growth in chemical fertiliser application, and promoting the environmentally-friendly and high-efficiency new
fertilisers. The Group will stay true to its original aspiration of developing green ecological products, leveraging
its technological advantages of soil testing formulae. The Group will further step up its efforts in technology
innovation and develop high-efficiency, dedicated and cost-effective fertiliser products, while improving its
agricultural-chemical services. Capitalising on its brand influence under the brand “Yanyangtian (¥ [5 X)”

accumulated over the past 30 years, the Group will create a brighter future.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

On behalf of the Group, | wish to thank our shareholders, Board members, customers, banks, business partners
and staff members for their great support for the Group over the past years. | would like to express my heart-felt
gratitude towards our creditors for their understanding and patience, and convey my most sincere gratitude
to all staff of the Group for their outstanding performance. In 2022, the Company will continue to innovate
in technology, products and marketing models; abide by the business philosophy and social mission; seek
development through innovation; seek win-win results in development; stay true to the original aspiration; strive
to bring benefits to all stakeholders; and create a better future together!

Chi Wen Fu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2021 (the
“Year”), the Group recorded an overall revenue of
approximately HK$1,331,858,000 (2020: approximately
HK$2,151,811,000), representing a year-on-year decrease
of approximately 38.1%, with an overall gross profit
margin of 9.9% (2020: 14.1%). The loss after tax was
approximately HK$1,254,102,000, representing an increase
of approximately 27.4% as compared with a loss of
approximately HK$984,205,000 for the same period of last
year. Revenue from the fertiliser business during the Year
was approximately HK$904,013,000 (2020: approximately
HK$1,378,985,000), representing a year-on-year decrease
of approximately 34.4%. Such decrease in revenue was
mainly attributable to the constant impact on the production
and transportation at the plants due to the most rigorous
pandemic prevention and control measures adopted by
the Chinese government as a result of repeated outbursts
of the pandemic. Meanwhile, in response to the "Dual
Control of Total Energy Consumption and Energy Intensity"
policy, the plants implemented a series measures such as
production reduction, production suspension and equipment
transformation and upgrade. The decrease in gross profit of
the Group was closely related to the substantial increase of
raw material prices for fertiliser production. The increase in
raw material prices was due to the global energy crisis and
global environment. Most of the distributors and farmers
adopted a wait-and-see approach due to the sharply
increased fertilisers' prices as a result of rising raw material
prices. Hence, the market performance in peak season
was poor, and the transaction sentiment was dampened.
In addition, since the Group was undergoing offshore debt
restructuring, the Group’s working capital liquidity and
operating scale has been hampered. Therefore, due to the
combined effects of various internal and external factors
mentioned above, the production and operation of the Group
will continue to be under pressure in the short and medium
terms.

Revenue from the magnesium product business held by the
Group through REMT was approximately HK$416,060,000
(2020: approximately HK$744,836,000) during the Year,
representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately
44.1%. Average gross profit margin was approximately 16.5%
(2020: 17.5%). For REMT, the decrease in sales revenue
was mainly due to the sharp fluctuations in magnesium price,
which have led to a wait-and-see approach adopted by most
downstream processing and applied companies. They placed
orders cautiously, resulting in weaker demand. Meanwhile,
the influence of the offshore debt restructuring has led to the
lingering constraints to REMT's working capital.
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“RELOCATION OF INDUSTRIES FROM CITY
URBAN AREA TO INDUSTRIAL PARKS"” BY
SHANDONG HONGRI

Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint Stock Company Limited
(“Shandong Hongri”) has cooperated with Luozhuang District
Government of Linyi City to respond to the requirements of
“Relocation of Industries from City Urban Area to Industrial
Parks” (“the Plan”). Shandong Hongri is benefited from the
relevant policies of the Shandong Provincial Government on
the Plan. All plants have been demolished since the launch
of the Plan. Shandong Hongri is persistently discussing with
the local authorities for further instructions to propel the
implementation of the Plan as soon as possible.

In accordance with the relevant policies of the Shandong
Provincial Government on the Plan, Shandong Hongri can
change the industrial use of the land where the plant was
originally located according to the law upon obtaining
approval after completion of the Plan as scheduled. The
Company expects to benefit from the value appreciation after
the change of use of the land, and reap additional gains.
But the change of land use will eventually hinge upon the
approval of relevant authorities in the PRC.

PROSPECT

We have the confidence to forge ahead and overcome
difficulties because of the rigid demand of fertilisers in
agricultural production, the policy support from the Chinese
Government, and the Group’s differentiated superior
products, the green ecological fertilisers, which we have
been exploring for more than 20 years. The repeated
outbreak of COVID-19 has caused food shortages in many
countries. Some food-exporting countries have begun to
restrict food exports. At present and in the future, the market
for agricultural materials related to the grain will face great
development opportunities. Fertilisers, which have a high
contribution rate of over 50% to the grain production, are
indispensable for the stable production and high yield of
grain. The green ecological fertiliser developed and produced
by the Group since its establishment helps improve soil
conditions and fertiliser utilisation rate, and enhance crop
yield and quality. We believe that in the post-epidemic
era, people’'s increasing demand for healthy food will also
promote the market demand for green ecological fertilisers.
“Enhancing Crop Productivity and Soil Fertility” is always our
eternal mission. To expand the fertiliser industry, leading the
development of green fertiliser is the unremitting pursuit of
Century Sunshine.

17
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(a) TEERZHEE -

BEPERER Fertiliser business
EEMEB Magnesium product

business

(b) TEERZFHYER -

BEPRHER Fertiliser business

EEMER Magnesium product
business

(c) EFZFE:

BEPRHER Fertiliser business

BEmER Magnesium product
business

AEFEBE The Group’s overall

performance

KEY OPERATIONAL DATA

Unaudited key operational data for the Year, together with
the comparative figures for the corresponding period in 2020,
are as follows. Main businesses listed below contributed over
99% of the Group’s total revenue for the Year.

(a) Sales volume of major products:

2020 s

T8 Decrease
Tonnes %
616,661 (47.0)
39,156 (56.8)

(b) Average selling price of major products:

2020 1
7T, W Increase
HK$/Tonne %
2,236 23.7
18,951 29.7

(c) Gross profit margin:
Vs
2020 ERa
Decrease
Percentage
% point
12.8 (5.1)
17.5 (1.0)
14.1 4.2)
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OPERATING INCOME AND GROSS PROFIT

Contribution of revenue by our Group’s dual core businesses:
fertiliser business and magnesium product business
accounted for similar proportion as last year, representing
67.9% and 31.2% (2020: 64.1% and 34.6%) respectively.

During the Year, the revenue of fertiliser business was
approximately HK$904,013,000 (2020: approximately
HK$1,378,985,000), representing a year-on-year decrease
of approximately 34.4%. The decrease in revenue was
mainly because that, given the Group is undergoing offshore
debt restructuring, the Group’s working capital liquidity and
operating scale have been hampered. Besides, the pandemic
prevention and control measures, “Dual Control of Total
Energy Consumption and Energy Intensity” policy together
with the continuing fluctuating and increasing raw material
prices further impaired the Group’s efficiency. As such, the
total sales volume of our fertiliser decreased by approximately
47.0% on a year-on-year basis, and the gross profit margin
decreased by 5.1 percentage points to 7.7%.

During the Year, the revenue of magnesium product business
was approximately HK$416,060,000 (2020: approximately
HK$744,836,000), representing a year-on-year decrease
of approximately 44.1%. The overall gross profit margin
decreased by 1 percentage point to 16.5%. The decrease
in revenue was mainly due to the lingering constraints to
the working capital of REMT as a result of the influence of
its offshore debt restructuring. Since REMT applied to the
Supreme Court of Bermuda for provisional liquidation for debt
restructuring purpose in July 2020, suppliers and customers
have been more cautious about placing orders due to the
impact of the offshore debt restructuring and the increased
costs of raw materials.
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OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET

Other net gains or losses were approximately HK$50,533,000
(2020: approximately HK$60,309,000), representing a
decrease of approximately 16.2% year-on-year, which were
mainly resulted from the decrease in government grant. In
last year, a discretionary government grant of approximately
HK$19,020,000 for the “Relocation of industries from City
Urban Area to Industrial Parks” to Shandong Hongri from the
PRC government was recognised by the Group, while there
was no such grant for current year.

SELLING AND MARKETING COSTS

Selling and marketing costs were approximately
HK$34,377,000 (2020: approximately HK$55,377,000),
accounting for approximately 2.6% (2020: 2.6%) of revenue,
which mainly consisted of market operating expenses,
sales staff salaries, and sales and distribution expenses. Its
decrease was in line with that of revenue.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative expenses mainly included staff remuneration,
depreciation and amortisation, auditing and professional
expenses. Administrative expenses for the Year were
approximately HK$205,813,000 (2020: approximately
HK$237,492,000), representing a decrease of approximately
13.3% vyear-on-year. The Group is undergoing offshore debt
restructuring and is therefore striving to reduce expenses.

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs were approximately HK$200,301,000 (2020:
approximately HK$179,501,000), representing an increase of
approximately 11.6% year-on-year. The increase in finance
costs was mainly due to the default interests recognised for
the cross default of certain debts of the Group since July
2020.
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INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)

Income tax for the year was a tax credit of approximately
HK$5,605,000 (2020: tax expenses of approximately
HK$56,222,000), which comprised of current tax expenses
of approximately HK$14,965,000 (2020: approximately
HK$35,901,000) and a deferred tax credit of approximately
HK$20,570,000 (deferred tax expenses of approximately
HK$20,321,000). During the year, current tax has decreased
by 58.3% year-on-year as a result of decrease in revenue.
Besides, certain non-current assets have been impaired for
the Year, resulting in a decrease of its related deferred tax
liabilities and a deferred tax credit therefore being recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit and loss, while in last
year, certain properties, plant and equipment have been
written-off and its related deferred tax assets was therefore
recognised as deferred tax expenses in the consolidated
statement of profit and loss.

MATERIAL ITEMS CONTRIBUTED TO LOSS
FOR THE YEAR

During the Year, the Group recognised the following write-off,
impairment and allowance on assets in aggregate of
HK$1,010,173,000 (2020: HK$853,464,000):

1. Impairment of non-current assets

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
management of the Group reviewed that two
cash-generating unit of the Group, fertiliser business
and metallurgical flux business segment (“CGU 17)
and magnesium product business segment (“CGU
2”) underperformed and incurred losses due to the
constraints to working capital and offshore debt
restructuring of the Group.
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To cope with the "Dual Control of Total Energy
Consumption and Energy Intensity" policy, the plants
implemented a series measures such as production
reduction, production suspension and equipment
transformation and upgrade. In addition, as affected
by fluctuations of international commodity prices due
to the global energy crisis and global environment, the
prices of raw and auxiliary materials for CGU 1 and
CGU 2 in China have increased significantly. Most of
the customers adopted a wait-and-see approach due
to the sharply increased fertilisers' and magnesium’s
prices as a result of rising raw material prices. The
market performance in peak season was poor, and the
transaction sentiment was dampened. Subject to the
combined effects of both internal and external factors
mentioned above, the production and operation of the
Group will continue to be under pressure in the short
and medium terms.

In view of the economic performance of the CGU 1 and
CGU 2 which was not as expected, management of the
Group concluded there was an indication for impairment
and conducted impairment assessment on right-of-use
assets, property, plant and equipment, and intangible
assets with carrying amounts of HK$232,958,000,
HK$3,408,172,000 and HK$291,125,000 respectively.

The Group estimates the recoverable amount of CGU1
and CGU2, to which the asset belongs when it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
including allocation of corporate assets when
reasonable and consistent basis can be established.
Each cash-generating unit represents the Group’s
manufacturing operation in respective geographical
locations. The carrying amounts of assets of CGU1 and
CGU 2 were approximately HK$2,642,500,000 and
HK$1,750,470,000 respectively.
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CGU 1

The recoverable amount of CGU1 has been determined
based on a value in use calculation. That calculation
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the management of the Group covering
the following 5 years as at 31 December 2021
with an expected pre-tax discount rate of 14.84%
and the corporate tax rate of 25%. The cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using
2% growth rate. This growth rate is based on the
relevant industry growth forecasts and does not exceed
the average long-term growth rate for the relevant
industry. Another key assumption for the value in use
calculated is the budgeted gross margin with a range of
approximately 11% to 22%, which is determined based
on the cash-generating units’ past performance and
management expectations for the market development.

CGU 2

The recoverable amount of CGU 2 has been determined
based on a value in use calculation. That calculation
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the management of the Group covering
the following 5 years as at 31 December 2021 with
an expected pre-tax discount rate of 14.71% and the
corporate tax rate of 25%. The cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using 2% growth rate,
which is based on the industry growth forecasts and
does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for
the relevant industry. Another key assumption for the
value in use calculated is the budgeted gross margin
with a range of approximately 22% to 26%, which is
determined based on the cash-generating unit’s past
performance and management expectations for the
market development.
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The Group engaged Roma Appraisals Limited,
independent valuer, as the valuer to perform the
valuations of CGU 1 and CGU 2 of the Group as at 31
December 2021.

The board of directors and audit committee of the
Group considered that the basis and assumptions used
for preparing the cash flow projection and the valuation
methodology, basis and assumptions used for preparing
the valuation report were reasonable and appropriate.

Details of the impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets are
disclosed in Note 22.

Allowance for expected credit losses on trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits
Under HKFRS 9, companies are required to account
for what they expect the loss to be on the day they
issue the invoice and revise their estimate of that loss
until the date they get paid. The concept of expected
credit losses (ECLs) means that companies are
required to look at how current and future economic
conditions impact the amount of loss. However, it
does not mean that such losses had actually occurred
nor should happen in coming years. Instead, ECLs
reflect information available at the reporting date and
it should need to be assessed for each financial year.
Independent valuers were engaged by the Group
to assess the ECLs for the trade receivables, other
receivable and deposits as at 31 December 2021.
Affected by the ongoing COVID-19 epidemic, the
Group’s receivables collection was significantly delayed.
Therefore, an allowance of HK$173,111,000 (2020:
HK$147,212,000) was made for the Year.

For details, please see Notes 26 and 27 to the financial
statements.
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MARGIN

During the Year, the Group’s after-tax loss was approximately
HK$1,254,102,000 (2020: HK$984,205,000), representing
an increase of approximately 27.4% vyear-on-year. If
excluding the above non-recurring and non-cash material
items contributed to loss for the year of approximately
HK$1,010,173,000 (2020: HK$853,464,000) in aggregate,
the adjusted after-tax loss from operations for the Year
was approximately HK$243,929,000, while that of last year
was approximately HK$130,741,000. The Group’s overall
business performance for the Year was hampered due to
the pandemic prevention and control measures and the
continuing fluctuating and increasing energy and raw material
prices.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

POSSIBLE DEBT RESTRUCTURING AND THE
APPOINTMENT OF JOINT PROVISIONAL
LIQUIDATORS FOR RESTRUCTURING
PURPOSES

Historically, the Group has enjoyed strong growth and
profitability over a number of years in its fertiliser business,
metallurgical flux business, and magnesium product business.
However, the raging COVID-19 outbreak and the Chinese
Government’s epidemic prevention and control measures that
are considered to be the most rigorous measures in history
have led to key businesses either not operating normally
or only operating on a limited basis. These conditions had
resulted in decrease in orders and longer receivable collection
cycles and has led to a material reduction in the Group’s
profitability and liquidity in the first half of 2020. The spread
of the epidemic across the world, and the rising tensions
between the United States of America and mainland China
have adversely affected the Company’s ability to refinance
the Notes and other borrowings, leading to the default in the
redemption of its subordinated notes in the principal amount
of SGD101,750,000 that matured on 3 July 2020.
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In order to facilitate a restructuring of its debts with
the benefit of a statutory moratorium prohibiting the
commencement or continuance of any proceedings against
the Company without the leave of court, the Company has
filed on 2 July 2020 (Cayman lIslands time) to the Grand
Court of the Cayman Islands (the “Grand Court”) a winding
up petition (“Petition”) together with the application for the
appointment of Mr. Yen Ching Wai David and Ms. So Kit
Yee Anita of Ernst & Young Transactions Limited, Mr. Roy
Bailey of Ernst & Young Ltd., and Ms. Tammy Karina Fu of
EY Cayman Ltd. (collectively, the “JPLs”) as the “light-touch”
joint provisional liquidators of the Company for restructuring
purposes, with the power to act jointly and severally. REMT,
a subsidiary of the Company, has also made a similar
application to the Supreme Court of Bermuda for the same
purpose.

A “light touch” basis is that the Board will retain management
of the Company and maintain the operation of the Group,
while the JPLs will work alongside the Company’s
management to monitor, supervise, and oversee the
implementation of a group-wide holistic and coordinated
restructuring of its debts and liabilities including to maintain
the listing of the Company on the Stock Exchange.

The JPLs Application was heard before the Grand Court
on 14 July 2020 (Cayman lIslands time). The Grand Court
granted an order that the JPLs have been appointed with
immediate effect.

On 18 August 2020, the Grand Court issued a letter of
request (“LOR”) to the High Court of Hong Kong for the
recognition of the appointment and powers of the JPLs in
Hong Kong to, inter alia, develop and propose a restructuring
plan to allow the Company to continue as a going concern.
The Grand Court also accepted the resignation of one of the
JPLs, Mr. Yen Ching Wai David on the same day. The JPLs
appointment order remains in force in respect of Mr. Roy
Bailey, Ms. Tammy Karina Fu and Ms. So Kit Yee Anita as
JPLs. An application has been filed by the JPLs to the High
Court of Hong Kong on 26 August 2020 for the recognition
of the appointment and powers of the JLPs pursuant to the
LOR. On 28 August 2020, the High Court of Hong Kong has
approved the said application.
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An application has been filed by the JPLs to the High Court
of the Republic of Singapore (the “Singapore High Court”) on
28 October 2020 for the recognition of the appointment and
powers of the JLPs pursuant to the LOR. On 30 November
2020, the Singapore High Court has approved the said
application.

On 23 December 2020, the Singapore Noteholders have
established the informal steering committee (the “ISC”). On 7
March 2021, the ISC has appointed an independent financial
advisor (the “IFA”), who sits on the creditors’ committee,
together with the ISC, to proceed the follow-up work.

During the Year, the JPLs have held several creditors’
committee meetings to discuss the development of
the provisional liquidation and restructuring scheme.
Nevertheless, any determination and implementation of such
scheme shall be subject to the agreement of the requisite
majorities of creditors and the applicable approval(s) of the
Grand Court, the High Court of Hong Kong, and/or other
relevant jurisdictions, if necessary.

As further ordered by the Grand Court, the hearing of the
Petition will be adjourned to be held on Monday, 25 April
2022 (Cayman lIslands time).

The Company is also taking various measures to improve
and strengthen the operation and management of the Group.
These measures include (i) restructuring internal capital
and debt, and seeking potential investors to participate
in fundraising plans; and/or (ii) taking further cost control
measures on capital investment and operation to reduce
the overall operating costs of the Group. The Company will
continue to seek positive feedbacks from the creditors to
support the scheme.

The Company will make further announcements in respect of
any substantial development of the restructuring scheme.
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REMT CREDITORS' SCHEME

As disclosed in the REMT announcement dated 18 January
2022, REMT proposed to implement the REMT Creditors’
Scheme, which comprises (i) the Term Extension Option; (i)
the Convertible Bonds Swap Option; and (i) a combination
of the aforementioned two options. Each REMT Scheme
Creditor with REMT Admitted Claims is entitled, to the extent
of the total value of his/her/its REMT Admitted Claim(s), to
elect among options (i), (i) and (i) above.

In order to secure the REMT’s payment obligations under the
Term Extension Option, a financial assistance, namely the
potential repayment under the proposed scheme of REMT
and potential corporate guarantee, will be provided to REMT
in favour of the REMT Scheme Company by the Company
upon the full and final settlement of all liabilities owed to the
Company’s creditors under the Proposed Scheme of the
Company. Further details on the REMT Creditors’ Scheme
were disclosed in the REMT announcement.

On 1 March 2022, the REMT Creditors’ Scheme was
approved by the requisite statutory majorities of the scheme
creditors at the adjourned scheme meeting convened by
REMT.

VALIDATION ORDER

Pursuant to Section 99 of the Cayman Islands Companies
Law, any disposition of the property of the Company,
including things in action, and any transfer of shares of the
Company (the “Shares”), or alteration in the status of the
members of the Company, made after the commencement
of the winding up, shall, unless the Grand Court otherwise
orders, be void.

The Board has sought the legal counsel’s advice and
after due and careful consideration of Company’s current
circumstances and state of affairs, it is of the view that
there is currently no need to apply for a validation order at
this stage. The Company will evaluate the situation from
time to time and take such steps as may be required as
circumstances evolve.

Further announcement(s) in relation to any material
development of the Petition will be made by the Company as
and when appropriate.
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LIQUIDITY, LIABILITIES AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

The Group’s liquidity in 2021 was mainly derived from cash
generated from business operations during the Year. As at
31 December 2021, total amount of bank and cash balances
of the Group was approximately HK$112,528,000 (2020:
HK$173,654,000).

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s total borrowings
was approximately HK$2,146,074,000, increased by
approximately 0.2% as compared to that of 2020 of
approximately HK$2,140,789,000, which was mainly due
to the appreciation of CNY. The Group’s gearing ratio
(calculated by total borrowings over total assets) was
approximately 36.3% in 2021 (2020: 30.9%).

DISCLAIMER OPINION RELATING TO GOING
CONCERN

In the consolidated financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (together as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2021, the Company’s auditors issued
disclaimer of opinion on the material uncertainties relating
to the going concern basis (“Disclaimer of Opinion”), in
which they were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to conclude on the appropriateness of management
to use the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements because
management’s plans for future actions (the “Action Plan”)
in relation to its going concern assessment could not be
finalised yet and therefore issued a disclaimer of opinion on
the results of the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

The management is taking the best efforts to agree on and
execute the Action Plan in 2021. Taking into account the
successful and continued implementation of the proposed
restructuring, the management and also the Directors are
satisfied that the Group will have sufficient working capital
to meet its financial obligation as and when they fall due in
the foreseeable future, and hence it is appropriate to prepare
the Group’s consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis. The management assessed that there is no
material impact on the Group’s financial position in light of
the Disclaimer of Opinion, as the going concern issue could
be resolved by the Action Plan devised.
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There was no disagreement between the Board and the
Auditors regarding the Disclaimer of Opinion, considering that
the consolidated financial statements have been prepared
by the management on a going concern basis, the validity
of which depends on the outcome of the measures under
management’s assumptions, which are subject to multiple
uncertainties.

The Audit Committee takes the same view as the Board
and agreed with the management’s position concerning the
going concern issue and Disclaimer of Opinion based on the
reasons above.

MANAGEMENT’S POSITION AND BASIS ON
THE GOING CONCERN ASSUMPTION

As detailed in Note 3 to this consolidated financial statement,
conditions existed as at 31 December 2021 indicating the
existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant
doubt regarding the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The management of the Company has been
actively negotiated with the JPLs and the creditors on debt
restructuring by way of scheme of arrangement involving,
among others, extension of repayment period.

In addition, the Company will continue to seek potential
investment in the Company from third party investor(s) to
facilitate raising of cash for the Company. The Company
has also implemented cost control measures on capital
investments, production, administrative and operations to
reduce overall operating costs of the Group.

Assuming the successful implementation of the creditor's
scheme, the Board is of the opinion that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligation as
and when they fall due in the foreseeable future. Accordingly,
the consolidation financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis.
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had pledge of its
assets, details of which are disclosed in Notes 28 and 32 to
the financial statements.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, other than those disclosed in Note
38 to the financial statements, the Group did not have any
material capital commitments.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, other than those disclosed in Note
42 to the financial statements, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2021, the issued share capital of the
Company were HK$91,622,337, divided into 4,581,116,843
shares of HK$0.02 each.

PROJECT OVERVIEW

Dolomite Mine

The Group’s dolomite mine is situated in Baishan City,
Jilin Province, the PRC. The mine is operated by open-pit
method, and therefore no additional exploration works are
involved or required. Only simple infrastructure works for
open-pit mining are involved in the development activities,
and no underground exploration or structural works are
involved. The dolomite mined is raw material for producing
magnesium products of the Group. The transportation cost
for raw material is relatively low due to the close proximity of
the mine to the production base of the Group.
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The dolomite mine of the Group was reported under the
Chinese resource/reserve categories. As at 31 December
2021, the anticipated resource and reserve volumes were
determined based on the yearly reduction of quantity mined
to calculate the remaining resource and reserve volumes.
There is no material change in the assumptions of estimation
by the Group as compared with those previously disclosed.
The resource and reserve volumes was reviewed by the
Group’s internal geological experts. For the year ended 31
December 2021, there was no dolomite output. As compared
with that as at 31 December 2020, there was no material
change in the resource estimate and ore reserve of the
dolomite mine during the Year.

The expenditure incurred in mining activities, exploration
activities and development activities of dolomite for the year
ended 31 December 2021 were HK$NIl.

Serpentine Mine

The Group’s serpentine mine is situated in Donghai County,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The mine is operated by
open-pit method, and therefore no additional exploration
works are involved or required. Only simple infrastructure
works for open-pit mining are involved in the development
activities, and no underground exploration or structural
works are involved. The serpentine mined is sold directly
as metallurgical flux for iron and steel smelting and is raw
material for producing silicon magnesium fertilisers of the
Group. The transportation cost for raw material is relatively
low due to the close proximity of the mine to the production
base of the Group.

The resource/reserve of the serpentine mine of the Group was
reported under the JORC system when it was acquired in
2010. As at 31 December 2021, the anticipated resource and
reserve volumes were determined based on the volume at the
time of acquisition with the yearly reduction of quantity mined
to calculate the remaining resource and reserve volumes.
There is no material change in the assumptions of estimation
by the Group as compared with those previously disclosed.
The resource and reserve volumes was reviewed by the
Group’s internal geological experts. For the year ended 31
December 2021, the Group completed a serpentine output of
114,587 tonnes. As compared with that as at 31 December
2020, there was no material change in the resource estimate
and ore reserve of the serpentine mine.
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The expenditures incurred for 2021 in development activities
were mainly CAPEX in relation to in-depth development
project of the mine. Such expenditures have been capitalised
and included in the consolidated statement of financial
position for 2021. The expenditures incurred in mining
activities were mainly for direct wages, materials, energy,
transportation, depreciation and amortisation, etc. Such
expenditures have been included in cost of sales and charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for 2021.

The expenditures incurred in development and mining
activities of serpentine for the year ended 31 December 2021
were approximately HK$10,886,000 and HK$13,130,000
respectively while the expenditures incurred in exploration
activities were HK$Nil.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and
business prospects may be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to our Group’s
businesses. The followings are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by our Group. There may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are not
known to our Group or which may not be material now but
could turn out to be material in the future.

Market risks

Market risk is the risk that deteriorates profitability or affects
ability to meet business objectives arising from the movement
in market demand, product prices, foreign exchange rates,
and interest rates. The management of our Group keeps
continually monitoring these exposures closely to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner against such risks.
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Exchange rate risk

The Group mainly operates in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) and Hong Kong and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from primarily Renminbi, HK$,
Singapore dollars, US$ and Australian dollars. Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in
foreign operations. The Group does not presently hedge
the foreign exchange risks. The Group periodically reviews
current assets and liabilities held in currencies other than HK$
to evaluate its foreign exchange risk exposure and consider
the usage of hedging instruments when necessary.

Interest rate risk

For interest-sensitive products and investments, our Group
analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis and
considers managing this risk in a cost-effective manner
through variety of means when appropriate.

Credit risk

The Group has always been aware of the credit risk exposure
of our customers. The Group strictly followed the “client
account management procedures” established in 2004.
The procedures required and ensured that all clients were
regularly assessed and be kept track of their accounts based
on their transaction records and credit history. The Group
specified and assigned to each customer, as according to
their operation and credit status, a series of credit measures
such as credit ratio, credit period, credit rating, credit terms
and guarantee. The client account management procedures
were effective to control the credit risk of the Group.
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Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate
or failed internal processes, people and systems or from
external events. Responsibility for managing operational risks
basically rests with functional departments of the Group
and its subsidiaries. Key functions of the Group is to guide
their standard operating procedures, limits of authority
and reporting framework. Our management will assess key
operational exposures and impacts brought by our business
development regularly, implement relevant measures and
improve the internal control so that risk can be addressed
and mitigated on a timely and effective manner.

Investment risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of extension
of its return period relative to the expected return or
occurrence of losses on any particular investment attributable
to changes of external factors. The Group is well aware of
the importance of exploring various business opportunities
and territories on a continual basis to the development of
our businesses, which shall be implemented as the top
agenda of the year. Key concern of investment projects will
be balancing risk and return across different investments,
and thus risk assessment is a core aspect of the investment
decision-making process. Proper investment assessment
and due diligence procedures have been set up and detailed
analysis will be made before approving investments. Regular
updates on the progress of the investments of our Group
would be submitted to the Board.
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Manpower and retention risk

Manpower risk means huge demand for talents because
of the Group’s rapid business development while at the
same time facing severe competition over specialists from
the industry and turnover of manpower. Our Group may
face the risk of not being able to recruit and retain key
personnel and talents with appropriate and required skills,
experience and competence to cope with the expansion of
business which would meet the business objectives of our
Group. Our Group will conduct a thorough analysis over
its remuneration system, as well as incentive mechanism
and optimise the compensation structure so as to ensure
remuneration packages can align reasonably with market
standard and maintain its competitiveness. Meanwhile,
recruitment channels are broadened and the talent pool
of senior management are strengthened, so as to further
enhance the promotion opportunities and career path of
employees. Systematic staff training are also being further
enhanced to increase the overall effectiveness of training and
the dissemination of good corporate cultures.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Environmental policies and performance mainly means
increasing attention of PRC government paid to environmental
rules and policies and more strict regulatory requirements. As
subsidiaries and newly acquired enterprises have been put
into operation for a long while and may lag behind certain
environmental and duty requirements promulgated by PRC
government. The Group monitors impact on our business
development closely arising from changes in environmental
policy and external factors. Acting in an environmentally
responsible manner and performing social responsibilities, the
Group is committed to improving and maintaining the long
term sustainability of the communities in which it operates.
The Group endeavours to comply with laws and regulations
regarding environmental protection and adopt effective
measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving
and waste reduction. Green initiatives and measures have
been adopted in daily operation of the Group. Such initiatives
include recycling of resources, energy saving measures and
water saving practices.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in mainland China while the Company
is listed on the Stock Exchange. The Group’s operations
accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations
in mainland China and Hong Kong. During the year ended
31 December 2021 and up to the date of this report, to the
best of our knowledge, the Group has complied with all the
relevant laws and regulations in mainland China and Hong
Kong.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES AND KEY
STAKEHOLDERS

The number of employees of the Group was approximately
1,150 (2020: approximately 1,670) as at 31 December 2021.
The remuneration of employees was determined by the Group
with reference to their performance, work experience and
current market conditions. Employee benefits include medical
insurance, defined provident fund scheme, discretionary
bonus and employee share option scheme. There has been
no labour dispute or significant change in the number of
employees that affect the normal operations of the Group.
The Directors believe that the Group maintains admirable
relations with its employees.

Our Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with business partners, shareholders, investors
and banks to achieve its long-term goals. To keep up with
our key stakeholders closely, the Group has formulated
corresponding scheme about investor relationship, and also
holds tailored activities for various stakeholders from time
to time, such as annual/ extraordinary general meetings,
on-site visits, seminars and road-shows. Accordingly, our
senior management have kept good communication, prompt
exchange of ideas and sharing of business latest update
about development of the Group with them when appropriate.
During the Year, there was no material dispute between our
Group and its business partners or banks.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

CHI Wen Fu, aged 59, Chairman of the Group who is
responsible for overall strategic planning and key operating
decisions. Mr. Chi started his law firm in Fuzhou in 1995, in
which he was the Managing Partner. Prior to that, Mr. Chi
joined Fuzhou Justice Bureau Commerce Law Office after
qualifying as a lawyer in the PRC in 1989. In early 1998,
Mr. Chi originated an initial research on organic agricultural
production and funded a R&D project on microbial compound
fertilisers. Mr. Chi is a graduate of Chemical Analysis and
Law. Mr. Chi established the Group in 2000.

CHI Jing Chao, aged 39, Chief Corporate Affairs Officer
of the Group who is responsible for the overall corporate
activities. Mr. Chi has 10 years of experience in corporate
affairs. Mr. Chi is a graduate of Financial and Administrative
Management. Mr. Chi has joined the Group since August
2004. Mr. Chi was also an executive director of REMT until
31 July 2021.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

GUO Mengyong, aged 63, is a Deputy General Manager
of Fujian Changsheng Wireless Technology Development
Company Limited. He was responsible for electronic
engineering technical management. Fujian Changsheng
Wireless Technology Development Company Limited is
principally engaged in production of electronic products and
communication devices. Mr. Guo joined Fuzhou Capacitors
Factory as a Technician in 1976. From 1993 onwards,
Mr. Guo worked at Fuzhou Meters Group Company as
an Engineer and later promoted to the Deputy Factory
Manager in 1996, in charging of technical quality control. In
2000, Mr. Guo joined Fujian Wireless Group Company as
Deputy General Manager and was responsible for quality
management. He is a graduate of Industrial Enterprise
Management. Mr. Guo has joined the Group since February
2011.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

CHEUNG Sound Poon, aged 61, is currently an
independent non-executive director of Rare Earth.
Mr. Cheung is currently a senior audit manager at Chui &
Kwok (CPA). He was an audit senior at Gary W.K. Yam &
Co. (CPA). Mr. Cheung has over 40 years of experience
in accounting and auditing. He was an independent
non-executive director and the chairman of audit committee
of the board of the Company between February 2004 and
May 2007.

SHENG Hong, aged 59, Director of SWIFTOWN
Development Limited and General Manager of SWIFTOWN
(Shanghai) Trading Limited. The SWIFTOWN Group is
principally engaged in design and sales of metallic products.
Mr. Sheng has over 20 years of experience in management
of corporation and investment. He was employed by China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited from 1986 to
1996. Mr. Sheng holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering
Mechanics from Tongji University, Shanghai.

Shen Yi Min, aged 58. a qualified lawyer to practise
securities laws in the PRC since July 1996. Mr. Shen
graduated from Fudan University in the PRC with a major in
Economics Law in 1992. Mr. Shen was a partner of Fujian Zhi
Li Law Office* ({8 @ = I8 2 80 =75 7) and the former principal
of Fujian Fuzhou Foreign Economics Law Office* (t8 &4
BN T EIME B EMEHFT) in the PRC. Mr. Shen was an
independent non-executive Director and a member of audit
committee of the Board of the Company from May 2003 to
September 2008.

COMPANY SECRETARY

LUK Sai Wai, Simon, aged 58, Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary of the Group. Mr. Luk is responsible for
financial, management accounting and secretarial affairs of
the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Luk was appointed
as Financial Controller for several listed companies in Hong
Kong and was experienced in finance and management.
Mr. Luk holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Business Administration
from Hong Kong Baptist University and a Master’s Degree in
Business Administration from University of Strathclyde. He is
a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales, an associate member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and a member of
Society of Registered Financial Planners, Hong Kong. Mr. Luk
has joined the Group since May 2010.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

HU Jie, aged 52, Production Director of the Group,
is responsible for fertiliser production and operation
management of the Group. Mr. Hu studied in mechatronics,
and has over 20 years of experience in the fertilizer industries.
He has served in various positions, such as the Head of
fertiliser factory, the General Manager of the production
technology department, the Head of the main chemical
factory and the General Manager of the purchasing and
branding department. Mr. Hu has joined the Group since
2007.

ZHU Guocai, aged 48, Sales Director of the Group, is
responsible for sales management in fertiliser business of the
Group. Mr. Zhu graduated from Jilin Agricultural University,
and has over 20 years of experience in the agricultural
management and marketing of fertiliser. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Zhu served as Regional Director and Deputy
General Manager of sales in Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint
Stock Company Limited. Mr. Zhu joined Shandong Hongri in
2000.

WANG Yongxiang, aged 53, is responsible for the ore
production and operation management of the Group.
Mr. Wang majored in planning and surveying of mining
industry with over 20 years of experience in agricultural
fertilisers production and mining. Prior to joining the Group,
he was the Production Technician and Engineer at Donghai
serpentine mine in Jiangsu Province, and the Head of Sulfuric
Acid Factory. Mr. Wang has joined the Group since 2007.

LEE Man Ching, aged 42, Assistant to Chairman of the
Group. Ms. Lee has over 10 years of experience in human
resources and administrative management. Ms. Lee holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Accountancy and a Master’'s Degree
in Corporate Governance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. She is a fellow member of Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, and an associate member
of Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries. Ms. Lee has
joined the Group since August 2004.
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The Company is committed to achieve and maintain high
standards of corporate governance and business integrity.
The Board believes that good corporate governance will
not only improve management accountability and investors
confidence, but will lay a good foundation for the long-term
development of the Company.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

Throughout the year of 2021, the Company has complied with
the code provision as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) and Corporate Governance Report
under Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)
except for the following deviations as explained below with
considered reasons:

(@) Under code provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer (the “CEQ”) should be separated
and should not be performed by the same individual.
However, there is no separation between the roles
of chairman and CEO under the current corporate
structure of the Company, details of which have been
disclosed in the paragraph headed “Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer” below.

(b)  Under the code provision E.1.2, the chairman of the
Board should attend the annual general meeting. The
chairman of the Board was unable to attend the annual
general meeting held on 30 June 2021 as he was
obliged to be away for a business trip on that date.
Mr. Shum Sai Chit, executive Director of the Company,
attended the said annual general meeting to answer
questions from shareholders.
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Mr. Lau Chi Kit (“Mr. Lau”) had retired as an
independent non-executive director, a member of audit
committee and a member of remuneration committee of
the Company on 30 June 2021. Following the retirement
of Mr. Lau, the Company has two independent
non-executive directors and audit committee members,
which therefore fell below the minimum requirements of
three under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules
respectively.

Pursuant to Rule 3.11 and 3.23 of the Listing Rules,
the Company should appoint additional independent
non-executive Directors and appropriate members to
the Audit Committee within three months after failing to
meet the requirements. Despite from the best effort by
the Company, the Company failed to identify suitable
candidate within the time requirement. The Company
has applied to the Stock Exchange for, and the Stock
Exchange has on 25 November 2021 granted to the
Company, a waiver to extend the grace period to 31
December 2021. Mr. Shen Yi Min has been appointed
as an independent non-executive director, a member
of audit committee of the board and a member of
remuneration committee of the board of the Company
on 1 January 2022 to fill the vacancy.
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THE BOARD

The Group is governed by the Board which is responsible for
strategic leadership and overall supervision of the Group. The
Board exercises a number of authorities which include:

- Formulating the Group’s overall strategies

- Monitoring and controlling operational and financial
performance

- Formulating strategies for risk management

- Reviewing effectiveness of internal control system

- Approving financial results and public announcements

- Approving annual operating budgets

- Approving major acquisitions or disposals and capital
projects

- Reviewing and approving major investments and
material borrowings

- Setting dividend policy

- Approving appointment of Directors

- Setting the Group’s remuneration policies

The Board is also responsible for performing the functions set
out in code provision D.3.1. The Board will meet to develop,
review and monitor the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, to review and monitor training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, to review and monitor the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, to develop, review and monitor the code of
conduct and compliance manual applicable to employees and
Directors and to review the compliance of the Company with
the CG Code and the disclosure in the corporate governance
report.

During the year of 2021, in relation to the corporate
governance functions, the Board has reviewed the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the regulatory
and statutory requirements, and the disclosure in the
corporate governance report.

During 2021, the Chairman had met the non-executive
Director and the independent non-executive Directors
respectively and individually without the presence of other
executive Directors.

43



L4

HaEfE R EEERAER AT Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited

EXREIGHRS
Corporate Governance Report

EEEMEA

EEghoREFEN EP2RRHTES
1BRIFPTESRIERBIULIFEATES -
o BYFRTEZTREHESTEBRE=D
— RABESAH EFGZXNERBGED 5
N AFHFIBA M FEI9H -

EFERTHNTEFARASBREEERY
TEFERMNZEITERBRIRNESD  MH
TEFRERANESTSREGHEKARER
MHEESEREEEZRR -

FRTEERARATREENTERNMAEL
BROUTHREEERE REXBUEERTER

BE o
=

BYFRTEETHREZGAMBERRNEE
BEMAEBRERESRE 3BBUFNTES
REFERHESZTMZEERELR  AE R
EXRW REEFERTAGBEZAER
Met - EE QORI B BUFRTEEFKRLE
MR ESABMERE B EEH N FERER -
SRR/ MEBLIERTESHABIIE -

X EREEMFBELEAMNERBRR - UL
I FBEBRERMBXERLEZFZAR K
FRWESN EFEEXBZHBMEEMBER -

RIS SEEMFNERRIE R EEED - (i)
EEFREFEERNEESFZREEEREND
FxE BEFTEEMEBEFTN2021F92 4
HEREHRBETRERET -

ARARCHEEAREAHANERTHIELEE
MR L BE

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board comprises 6 Directors in which 2 are executive
Directors; 1 is non-executive Director and 3 are independent
non-executive Directors. The number of independent
non-executive Directors constitutes more than one-third of
the Board. The composition of the Board as at the date of
this report and their profiles are set out on page 38 and page
39 of the annual report respectively.

The Board delegates powers to executive Directors for the
day-to-day management of the Group and the implementation
of major strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board
whereas executive Directors should provide such explanations
and information to the Board in a timely manner to enable the
Board to monitor the performance of management.

Non-executive Director brings in valuable expertise and
experience to the Company and serves important functions
as well as provides strategic advices to the management.

Independent non-executive Directors ensure that the Board
is accountable for the interest of all shareholders and
handles matters in an objective manner. The 3 independent
non-executive Directors have brought a wide spectrum of
valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the Board for efficient and effective delivery of its
functions. The Board has received from each independent
non-executive Director an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Board considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

Mr. Chi Wen Fu and Mr. Chi Jing Chao have a family
relationship of uncle and nephew. Mr. Guo Mengyong is a
brother-in-law of Mr. Chi Wen Fu. Save as disclosed, there is
no other relationship among members of the Board.

Upon reviewing (i) the directorships and major commitments
of each Director; and (i) the attendance rate of each Director
at the meetings of the Board and its committees, the Board
is satisfied that all Directors have spent sufficient time in
performing their responsibilities during 2021.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal action against Directors.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Upon the resignation of Mr. Shum Sai Chit as Chief Executive
Officer on 30 July 2021, Mr. Chi Wen Fu, founder of the
Group, the chairman and an executive Director, has been
appointed as the CEO of the Company.

This structure does not comply with code provision A.2.1.
However, the Board is of the view that it is in the best
interests of the Group to adopt a single leadership structure,
as Mr. Chi possesses extensive experience and knowledge
in the PRC market and he is playing a significant role in
establishing strategic decisions and overall management of
the Group. It enables the Company to make and implement
decisions promptly and efficiently. Further, it is difficult for
the Board to find a candidate with suitable qualification
and expertise in the market to fill the position of CEO at
this stage of debts restructuring. With the single leadership
structure, sufficient safeguards are established to ensure the
management is accountable to the Board. The Chairman/
CEO ensures Board meetings are held regularly and when
necessary. The Chairman/ CEO ensures that Board members
are provided with complete, adequate, accurate and timely
information on a regular basis to enable them to be fully
cognizant of the affairs of the Group. The Chairman/CEO
ensures all Directors have unrestricted access to document
or information kept by the Group and professional advice
when necessary.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION

Any potential new Directors, being individuals who
are suitably qualified and expected to make a positive
contribution to the performance of the Board, will be identified
by the existing Directors and the Nomination Committee and
submitted to the Board for approval.

In accordance with the articles of association of the
Company, at each annual general meeting of the Company,
one-third of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation
and every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once
every 3 years. Mr. Guo Mengyong and Mr. Cheung Sound
Poon shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company, but being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

If an independent non-executive Director serves more than 9
years, his further appointment will be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by shareholders.
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Mr. Shen Yi Min, being appointed by the Board after the
preceding general meeting of the Company, shall also retire
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company,
but being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Each of the non-executive Director and the independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Guo Mengyong,
Mr. Cheung Sound Poon, Mr. Sheng Hong and Mr. Shen
Yi Min, has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a fixed term of 2 years commencing from 1
April 2021 and 1 January 2022 respectively, subject to the
provisions of retirement and rotation of Directors under the
articles of association of the Company and save that either
such Director or the Company may terminate the appointment
by giving at least 3 months’ prior written notice. Annual
emoluments payable to independent non-executive Directors
and non-executive Director will be reviewed according to their
estimated time to be spent on the Company’s matters and
their working experience with the Company.

All existing executive Directors are entitled to a fixed
remuneration per annum respectively. In addition, each
executive Director is also entitled to a discretionary
management bonus calculated as a percentage of the
audited consolidated net profit of the Group attributable to
the owners of the Company (after tax and non-controlling
interests and the payment of such management bonuses
but before extraordinary and exceptional items), which
percentage shall be determined by the Board provided that
the aggregate amount of the bonuses payable to all executive
Directors in respect of each financial year of the Company
shall not exceed 5% of such net profit. The remuneration of
each executive Director is subject to the annual review of the
Board with reference to his/her contribution in terms of time,
effort and his/her expertise.

Details of remuneration paid to each of the Directors and
senior management during the year are disclosed in Note 13
to the financial statements.

All Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable
expenses incurred during the performance of their duties to
the Company and are eligible for share options under the
share option scheme of the Company.

BOARD PROCESSES

The Board is accountable to the shareholders and leads
the Group in an ethical, responsible and effective manner.
The Board meets on a regular basis and arranges ad-hoc
meetings for any specific matters that may arise.
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The Board met 5 times in 2021. The attendance of individual

EEHEEETees ZTEECH#LIREAE Directors at Board meetings, committee meetings and
2 EOER general meetings is set out in the following table:
fritifE/ Bzes
Attended/held
EZg® ERZEE REZEE  FWzEE
e g3 EE g3 BRRAE
Audit  Nomination Remuneration
Board Committee = Committee = Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
HiTES Executive Directors
WXE () Chi Wen Fu (Chairman) 5/5 - 1/1 - 0/1
g (M) Shum Sai Chit (note 1) 3/3 - - 11 11
T Chi Jing Chao 5/5 - - - 0/1
FHTES Non-Executive Director
PEE Guo Mengyong 5/5 - - - 0/
BUFHTES Independent Non-Executive
Directors
REAR Cheung Sound Poon 5/5 5/5 11 11 11
s Sheng Hong 5/5 5/5 11 11 1
2184 (Wa2) Lau Chi Kit (note 2) 2/2 2/2 - 11 1
BsE - notes:

1. BRA202147 A30H BHE

2. EX202156 A30H R

EEEENEEeEXHERESTeAEZESS
a#xn:lEﬂHIJ T EREE WA TRIIKERS
EH ZEEQEREETSSRLUBRERRT
NN EMRABZRIELAT - WEEREKE
ERNEECLELHERAEBERZEEREF
HEE FHEEBUBERTEEEE R
FRMENEMRBER 2 AFNERE ©

1. Resigned on 30 July 2021

2. Retired on 30 June 2021

Agendas and the accompanying board papers are circulated
in full to all Directors at least 3 days before the Board or
committee meeting. Board decisions will then be resolved
either by vote at Board meetings or by written resolutions. If a
substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board
has determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with
by a physical Board meeting rather than a written resolution.
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Minutes of the Board meetings and meetings of the Board
committees taken by the company secretary of the Company
and, together with any supporting papers, are available for
inspection to all Directors. The minutes record the matters
discussed by the Board or its committees, the decisions
made and any concerns or dissenting views raised by the
Directors.

If a Director has a conflict of interests in relation to a
transaction or proposal to be considered by the Board, such
Director is required to declare his/her interest and abstain
from voting. Such matter shall be considered at a Board
meeting by Directors who have no material interest in the
transaction or proposal.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

On appointment to the Board, each Director would receive
an induction package covering the Group’s business and
the statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of a
listed company. The Group also regularly updates Directors
on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable legal and regulatory requirements regarding
subjects necessary for performing their duties. In addition,
the Company has been encouraging and offering to pay
for Directors to attend seminars on the latest development
of applicable laws, rules and regulations so that they can
continuously update and further improve their relevant
knowledge and skills.
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HZE2021F12 A31 H B MBIt an T« training received by each of the
from 1 January 2021 up to 31 December 2021 is summarised
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as follows:

Executive Directors
Chi Wen Fu

Shum Sai Chit (note 1)
Chi Jing Chao

Non-Executive Director
Guo Mengyong

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Cheung Sound Poon

Sheng Hong

Lau Chi Kit (note 2)

According to the records provided by the Directors, the

Directors during the period

BESERR
IR
Type of
continuous
professional
development
training " ®

W

A/B

B 3

2202147 A30H & T

B 52021F6 A30H R

EIEE

A RS TIRE

ERERKL LHRARAMERE
ERERNBRES S EORERN

notes:

1. Resigned on 30 July 2021

2. Retired on 30 June 2021

3. Training types:

A: Attending seminar(s) or training session(s)
B: FE®RE - TWhABAAREBRE B: Reading newspapers, journals and updates relating

to the Company’s business or directors’ duties and
responsibilities, the latest development of the Listing

Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements etc.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for
implementing business strategies and management of the
daily operations of the Group to the senior management who
is required to report back to the Board. Functions reserved to
the Board and the management are reviewed periodically. The
Board and each individual Director is empowered to access
any Company’s information from senior management and
the company secretary at all times. The Directors are kept
informed on a timely basis of major changes that may affect
the Group’s businesses, including amendments on relevant
rules and regulations. During the year, Directors are provided
with monthly updates on the Company’s performance,
position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and
each Director to discharge their duties. Directors are allowed
to seek independent professional advice in performing their
duties at the Company’s expense, but no request was made
by any Director for such independent professional advice in
2021.

The Board monitors and reviews performance of the
management based on several key performance indicators
such as financial figures, investor relations, corporate
governance and internal control. The principal measures
include review of management accounts, review of internal or
external auditor reports and feedbacks from stakeholders.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

During the year, the Board has implemented a board diversity
policy which has been effective since 1 September 20183.
The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.
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Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural background and ethnicity, in addition to educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 6 Directors.
Among which, one of them is a non-executive Director and
three of them are independent non-executive Directors. The
Directors are of diverse educational background and possess
a wide spectrum of professional qualifications and business
experience. The Board is of significant diversity, whether
considered in terms of gender, professional and educational
background and skills.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules (“Model Code”) as the code
of conduct of the Company regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. The Company made specific enquiries to all
Directors and all Directors have confirmed in writing that they
have complied with the required standards set out in the
Model Code during the year.

BOARD’S COMMITTEES

To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board
has established audit committee (the “Audit Committee”),
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”),
and nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”).
These committees function within clearly defined terms
of reference. Independent non-executive Directors play
a significant role in these committees to ensure that
independent and objective views are taken.

The terms of reference of these committees are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

Upon the retirement of Mr. Lau Chi Kit on 30 June 2021,
the Audit Committee consists of Mr. Cheung Sound Poon
(chairman of the Audit Committee) and Mr. Sheng Hong for
the reporting period, who are both independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Shen Yi Min was appointed as independent
non-executive Director on 1 January 2022 and also joined
the Audit Committee as a member. All committee members
possess appropriate qualifications such as accounting and
financial management.

The Audit Committee met 5 times in 2021 to review with
the senior management and external auditors the Group’s
significant internal controls and financial matters as set out in
the Audit Committee’s terms of reference. The functions of
the Audit Committee include the following matters:

- Reviewing the Group’s financial statements with
recommendation to the Board for approval

- Reviewing the Group’s compliance of the regulatory and
statutory requirements

- Reviewing the Group’s internal control and risk
management

- Reviewing significant accounting and audit issues

- Reviewing the Group’s connected transactions

- Overseeing and managing the relationship with external
auditors

The Audit Committee has power to conduct investigations
into any matter within the scope of responsibility of the
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is authorised to
obtain independent professional advice if it deems necessary
for discharging its responsibilities. The Audit Committee
has obtained a written confirmation from the auditors on
their independence and objectivity as required under the
Section 290 (revised) of the Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants prior to the commencement of the audit
of the Company’s financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021.
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During the year, the Audit Committee has carried out the
above functions in the respective Audit Committee meetings
and also has been satisfied with the review of the audit
scope, process, effectiveness and independence of the
auditors.

In the consolidated financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (together as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2021, the Company’s auditors issued
disclaimer of opinion on the material uncertainties relating
to the going concern basis (“Disclaimer of Opinion”), in
which they were unable to obtain sufficient audit evidence
to conclude on the basis of the application of the going
concern basis due to the uncertainty on the successful
implementation of the debt restructuring of the Company.
The Audit Committee has communicated with the Auditors
regarding the basis of the Disclaimer of Opinion. Other than
the going concern basis, in all other aspect, in the opinion
of the Auditors, the consolidated financial statements have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The Audit Committee has reviewed and recommended to
the Board for approval of the interim and annual financial
statements for 2021. There was no disagreement between
the Board and the Audit Committee on the re-appointment of
the auditors.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises 4
members, namely Mr. Cheung Sound Poon (chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and independent non-executive
Director), Mr. Chi Jing Chao (executive Director), Mr. Sheng
Hong (independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Shen Yi
Min (independent non-executive Director as appointed on 1
January 2022.).

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are to
formulate transparent procedures for setting remuneration
policies and packages for Directors and the senior
management of the Group. Its duties include:

- Reviewing and recommending to the Board the
remuneration packages of individual executive and
non-executive Directors and the senior management of
the Group

- Reviewing the administration of the share option
scheme of the Company

- Reviewing the appropriateness of compensation for
Directors and the senior management of the Group

No Director is involved in determining his/her own
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee met once in
2021 to review the existing remuneration policies of the
Directors and senior management.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee currently comprises 3 members,
namely, Mr. Chi Wen Fu (chairman of the Nomination
Committee and executive Director), Mr. Cheung Sound Poon
(independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Sheng Hong
(independent non-executive Director).

lts duties include:

- Reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board

- Recommending any change to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategies

- Identifying capable and qualified individuals to become
Board members

- Assessing independence of independent non-executive
Directors

- Making recommendation on appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors

- developing and maintaining a policy for the nomination
of Board members

- developing and maintaining a board diversity policy and
to ensure its effectiveness

- monitoring the implementation of the Board diversity
policy and to review and to make recommendations on
any revisions of such policy

The Nomination Committee met once in 2021 for reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, making
recommendation to the Board regarding change of roles
of board members and re-appointment of retiring Directors
at the forthcoming annual general meeting, assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors.

In carrying out the responsibility for identifying suitably
qualified candidates to become members of the Board, the
Nomination Committee will give adequate consideration to
the board diversity policy.

55



56

HaEfE R EEERAER AT Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited

EXREIGHRS
Corporate Governance Report

1 4 B 3 A

ARAEZTEFSAMEBABRQFEEE
B R E AN o BRIB RS RIS - B
SETENEBMAR AR AFE MR HIFE R
BeomM20215E BB EIERREXE
B Al 75

ATREERTRHEMEHRIFBZRGEAERE
B R Al

- ZEEREELEERE
- TEHISREENET I
- BRBEX
- RHBEE

EEERNBRRBERASLERBEETRHIZH
B £ 7 B -

TM2021FFTIREHMRYG  AEB SN EMNT
B AZEBE 2RSS T

BEEtmEBRARAR
B2 R EZEERS

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company had appointed HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited as the independent auditors of the Group. Apart
from audit services, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited also
provided non-audit services during the year. For the year
of 2021, the provisions of non-audit services mainly include
professional services for professional review.

The following principles are considered when determining the
appointment of the auditors in non-audit services:

- No management decision made by the auditors
- Independence of the auditors not to be impaired
- Quality of service

- Cost of service

The Board was authorised in the annual general meeting to
determine the remuneration of the independent auditors.

The remuneration paid/payable by the Group to the
independent auditors for the year of 2021 are as follows:

FET
HK$’000

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Audit and audit related services 2,080

AFEEZERBEMBEFEAMEBEMBERIAE
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The accounts for the year were audited by HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited whose term of office will expire upon
the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Audit Committee
has recommended to the Board that HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited be re-appointed as the auditors of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF
DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
preparation of the financial statements for each financial
period, which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Company and its subsidiaries and in compliance with
the requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Listing Rules.

The auditors acknowledge their responsibilities in the
auditors’ report as set out on pages 76 to 80 of the annual
report.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish,
maintain and review the effectiveness of the Group’s system
of internal controls and risk management with a view to
ensuring that shareholders’ investments and the Group’s
assets are safeguarded. Such system is designated to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. This responsibility is primarily fulfilled on its behalf by
the Audit Committee. In the year under review, the Audit
Committee, as delegated by the Board, has reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal control systems of the Group,
covering all material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions.

The foundation of a strong system of internal control is a
solid control environment. This is dependent on the following
components:

- Business ethics and culture of the organisation;
- Quality and competence of its personnel;

- Direction provided by the Board; and

- Effectiveness of the management
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group improves its business and operational activities by
identifying the areas of significant business risks via a regular
review and taking appropriate measures to control and
mitigate these risks. The management of the Group reviews
all significant control policies and procedures and highlights
all significant matters to the Board and Audit Committee.

The implementation of risk management of the Group was
assisted by the Group’s internal audit department so that the
Group could ensure new and emerging risks relevant to the
Group’s operation are promptly identified by management,
assess the adequacy of action plans to manage these
risks and monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of the
action plans. These are on-going processes and our Audit
Committee reviews the Group’s risk management systems
periodically.

Audit committee reported to the Board the implementation
of the Group’s risk management and internal control policy
which, among other things, included the determination of
risk factors, evaluation of risk level the Group could endure
and effectiveness of risk management measures. Based on
the reports from the Group’s internal control department and
the Audit Committee, the Board considers the Group’s risk
management and internal control system is adequate and
effective and the Group has complied with the provisions on
risk management and internal controls as set out in the CG
code.
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PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
FOR HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”) and the Listing Rules. The
Group discloses inside information to the public as soon
as reasonably practicable unless the information falls within
any of the safe harbours as provided in the SFO. Before
the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the
Group believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality
cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have
been breached, the Group would immediately disclose the
information to the public. The Group is committed to ensure
that information contained in announcements or circulars
is not false or misleading as to a material fact, or false or
misleading through the omission of a material fact in view of
presenting information in a clear and balanced way, which
requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company recognises the importance of open
communication and fair disclosure. It is the Company’s policy
to ensure that all shareholders are equally informed of all
major corporate developments.

All shareholders have proper notice of any general meeting
of the Company at which the Directors and the committees’
members are available to give explanation on any query
raised by the shareholders. Major information of the Company
could be obtained from the Company’s website or financial
reports and circulars sent to the shareholders. Any enquiries
by the shareholders requiring the Board’s attention can also
be sent in writing to the Investor Relations Manager of the
Company whose contact details are set out in the paragraph
headed “Shareholders’ Rights — (c) Right to Put Enquiries to
the Board” below.
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Resolutions put to vote at the general meetings of the
Company shall be decided on a poll, save that the chairman
of the meeting may in good faith allow a resolution which
relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be
voted by a show of hands. Procedures for conducting a poll
will be explained to the shareholders at each general meeting
and questions from shareholders regarding the voting
procedures will be answered. The poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
respectively in the manner prescribed under the Listing Rules.

As part of a regular program of investor relations, senior
executives may hold briefings or road shows after the
results announcement and attend conferences with
institutional investors and analysts to engage in two-way
communications on the Company’s performance, objectives
and developments. Company visits can be arranged by the
Company upon specific request.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

(a) Right to Convene Extraordinary General

Meeting

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company,
any one or more members holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the company secretary of the Company, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
2 months after the deposit of such requisition.
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The written requisition must state the purposes of the
meeting, signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposit it to
the Board or the company secretary of the Company
at the Company’s head office and principal place of
business in Hong Kong at 16th Floor, Tower 5, The
Gateway, Harbour City, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong, and such request may consist of several
documents in like form, each signed by one or more of
the requisitionist(s).

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong and upon the confirmation
of the branch share registrar that the request is in order,
the company secretary of the Company will ask the
Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting by
serving sufficient notice in accordance with all relevant
statutory and regulatory requirements to all registered
members. On the contrary, if the request is verified as
not in order, the requisitionist(s) will be advised of this
outcome and accordingly, an extraordinary general
meeting will not be convened as requested.

If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself/themselves may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Right to Put Forward Proposals at General
Meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to
propose new resolutions at general meetings under
the Cayman Islands Companies Law or the articles of
association of the Company. Shareholders who wish
to propose a resolution may request the Company to
convene an extraordinary general meeting following the
procedures set out in the preceding paragraph.

As regard the procedures for proposing a person for
election as a Director, please refer to the procedures
made available on the website of the Company at
www.centurysunshine.com.hk.
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(c) Right to Put Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board in writing for the attention
of Investor Relations Director of the Company whose
contact details are as follows:

16th Floor

Tower 5, The Gateway

Harbour City

Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon

Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2802 2697

Email: ir@centurysunshine.com.hk

The Investor Relations Director of the Company shall
forward the shareholders’ enquiries and concerns to
the Board and/or relevant committees of the Board to
answer the shareholders’ questions where appropriate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Luk Sai Wai, Simon is an employee of the Company
and has been appointed as the company secretary of the
Company with effect from 1 May 2010. The biographical
details of Mr. Luk are set out in the section headed “Directors
and Senior Management Profile”.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Luk has
taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
during the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There are no changes in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

At the Company’s last annual general meeting held on 30
June 2021, all the resolutions relating to the adoption of
financial statements, re-election of Directors, reappointment
of auditors and grant of general mandates to issue and
repurchase shares have been duly passed. The forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company is scheduled to be
held on 30 June 2022 or any other dates as specified in
further notice of annual general meeting to be published on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange later.
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report
together with the audited financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2021, which are set out on
pages 81 to 219.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities and other particulars of its principal subsidiaries
are shown under Note 23 to the financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance by operating
segments is set out in Note 8 to the financial statements.
During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the
Group mainly operated in the PRC and the Group’s revenue
are mainly derived from the PRC and non-current assets of
the Group are mainly located in the PRC as at 31 December
2021 and 31 December 2020. No analysis of the Group’s
result and assets by geographical area is disclosed.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on pages 81 to 82.

The directors of the Company do not recommend the
payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 December
2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group is set out on pages 16 to 25
of the annual report.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last 5 financial years is set out on page 220 of the
annual report.

63



64

HaEfE R EEERAER AT Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited

EFEEWRS
Directors’ Report

MR- BERR W

AEBZME BERREBEEDFRARYH
R MTE6

Bz &

ARB 2 RAZEFBEHN YT RRMEESS ©

2 B% fn 1 89 160 iR
(a) MFPEERWERIZBKRE

HE22021F12A31H I FEHWBER ~ 17
BRERMBERE  FEHENTBRE
W7 AEETeRE 2 [BRETS =
B ©

(b) EIERIE
M2019F12A13H » AR Al zEE2EHK
BRAR([EBTALBEBIE =7 ([HiE
BADFTURERERGZ - B - HTA
[ & LA~ 7] 3R 32 B 4 £2,000,000/% 7T [A)
MR AR AR D RERE - BEARAR
PRERREHAR - WARBERZBR R RE BHE
R lRER - BITEESRBEREAR50.35
T MR T AR & %£200,000,000/%
HERHEIR M, o W2 08 B R ITE
BFANERZ BHREHA72,000,0008 T °

MTHMEZFE B2 ARFMR2019F
12 138 fM202043 523 H B 4h #) A/ o

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in Note 16 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are
set out in Note 35 to the financial statements.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

(a) Share options granted to directors and
selected employees
For share options granted, exercised and lapsed during
the year ended 31 December 2021, details are set out
in Note 37 of the financial statements and the section
named “Share Option Schemes” contained in this
Directors’ Report.

(b) Call option

On 13 December 2019, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company (the “Grantor”) entered
into a call option agreement with an independent third
party (the “Optionee”). Pursuant to which, the Grantor
agreed to grant to the Optionee a call option at a
non-refundable option fee of HK$2,000,000 relating to
the purchase of up to 200,000,000 REMT shares at an
exercise price of HK$0.35 per REMT share during an
option period on and subject to the terms of the call
option agreement. In the event that the call option is
exercised in full, the aggregate consideration receivable
by the Grantors will be HK$72,000,000.

For more details, please refer to the announcements
made by the Company on 13 December 2019 and 23
March 2020.
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LISTED SUBORDINATED NOTES

On 5 June 2017, the Company issued listed subordinated
notes (under the Multicurrency Medium Term Note
Programme) with the face value of SGD101.75 million. The
note carries a coupon rate of 7.0% and are listed on the
Singapore Stock Exchange. The note matured on 3 July 2020
and was defaulted.

Details of the listed subordinated notes outstanding as at
31 December 2021 are set out in Note 32 of the financial
statement.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the year are set out in consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 85 and Note 36(b) to
the financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2021
amounted to HK$510,141,000 (2020: HK$978,395,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year 2021 and 2020, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities during the year and up to the
date of the annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of the
annual report are:

Executive Directors

Chi Wen Fu (Chairman and CEQ)

Shum Sai Chit (CEQ) (Resigned on 30 July 2021)
Chi Jing Chao

Non-Executive Director
Guo Mengyong

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Cheung Sound Poon

Sheng Hong

Shen Yi Min (Appointment on 1 January 2022)
Lau Chi Kit (Retired on 30 June 2021)

In accordance with Article 87 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Guo Mengyong and Mr. Cheung Sound
Poon will retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election.

Mr. Shen Yi Min, being appointed by the Board after the
preceding general meeting of the Company, shall also retire
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company,
but being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries or its parent
company was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors or the management
shareholders of the Company or their respective associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business
that competed or might compete with the business of the
Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to Article 167 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation
thereto, and no Director shall be liable for any loss, damages
or misfortune which may happen to or be incurred by the
Company in the execution of the duties of his office or in
relation thereto.

A Directors liability insurance is currently in place, and was
in place during the year, to protect the Directors of the
Company against potential costs and liabilities arising from
claims brought against them.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management
are set out on pages 38 to 40 of the annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(a) Share option scheme of the Company

In order to attract and retain the best quality employees
for the development of the Group’s businesses and to
provide additional incentives or rewards to selected
qualifying participants, the Company adopted a share
option scheme on 3 December 2008 (the “Old Scheme”)
and on 26 June 2019 (the “New Scheme”) respectively.
The qualifying participants mainly include employees
of the Group, Directors and contractors, suppliers or
service providers of the Group who have contribution to
the Group. Both schemes, unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, will remain in force for 10 years since its
establishing date. The Old Scheme was expired on 3
December 2018, options granted under the Old Scheme
before its expiry were all expired and lapsed in 2020.
The remaining life of the New Scheme is approximately
7.5 years (expiry on 26 June 2029).

As at 31 December 2021, options to subscribe for a
total of 284,900,000 Shares were outstanding under the
New Scheme. Details of the movements in the options
are set out in Note 37 to the financial statements.
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(b) Share option scheme of a subsidiary

REMT

In order to attract and retain the best quality employees
for the development of the Group of REMT’s businesses
and to provide additional incentives or rewards to
selected qualifying participants, REMT adopted a
share option scheme on 4 December 2017 (the “REMT
Scheme”). The qualifying participants mainly include
employees, directors, contractors, suppliers or service
providers who have contribution to the Group of
REMT. The REMT Scheme, unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, will remain in force for 10 years since
its establishing date. The remaining life of the REMT
Scheme is approximately 6 years (expiry on 4 December
2027).

As at 31 December 2021, options to subscribe for a
total of 348,400,000 Shares were outstanding under
the REMT Scheme (the “REMT Options”). Details of the
movements in the options are set out in Note 37 to the
financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTEREST IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE
COMPANY AND ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2021, the relevant interests and short
positions of the Directors or chief executive of the Company
in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFQ”)), as recorded in the register to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO were as
follows:
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(i) RELEZRHORBREZRE

Esg

Name of Director
X E(Ghik])
Chi Wen Fu ("Mr. Chi")

ity

Chi Jing Chao
HFE

Guo Mengyong

REX
Cheung Sound Poon

Sheng Hong

(i) Long Positions in Shares and Share Options
of the Company

BERMUA

Number of Shares held

EARAT

20215

12A31H

BRITRA

ZEA

Percentage

BEBREZE of issued share
(Ki&¥2)  capital of the

B AER
Personal
interests

249,970,548

2,625,000

1,775,000

BEER
Spouse
interests

1,633,998

G £
Corporate
interests
1,341,871,364
(1) (note 1)

&t Number of Company as at
Options held 31 December

Total (note 2) 2021
1,591,841,912 34.75%
20,000,000 0.44%

1,633,998 0.04%
8,000,000 0.17%

2,625,000 0.06%
5,000,000 0.11%

5,000,000 0.11%

1,775,000 0.04%
5,000,000 0.11%
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(ii) Long position in debentures of the Company

EEsE B EntE FEEsSE
Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest Amount of debentures held
3 N3 T
SGD
il 1 A 2 2,500,000
Mr. Chi Personal interest
Bt - notes:
1. ZERMAETERREEAR([BE]FEH - 1. These Shares are held by Alpha Sino International Limited

ERBEERATED EITRAS3.74% » FiL
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-

Br b SCPT# R A SN 0 R2021F12A31H » AR
AISEFRFTETHRABRBESEZHEA
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(“Alpha Sino”) and are deemed corporate interests by virtue
of Mr. Chi’s holding of 83.74% of the issued share capital
of Alpha Sino which entitled him to exercise or control the
exercise of one-third or more of the voting power at general
meeting of Alpha Sino.

As pursuant to a share mortgage agreement dated 10 July
2014, Alpha Sino, being the substantial shareholder of the
Company, had mortgaged 549,280,000 Shares (representing
approximately 12% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 30 June 2015) to International Finance Corporation
(“IFC”) as security for a loan agreement dated 30 May 2014
(as amended and restated on 7 December 2015) entered into
between IFC and Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Co. Ltd.

2. Details of Options held are set out in the above section headed
“Share Options Schemes”.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none
of the Directors or chief executive of the Company or their
respective associates had interests and short positions in the
Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of SFO.
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(iii) RELXEZHBEBR K - B  (iii) Interests in the shares, underlying shares and

REFZEE debenture of associated corporation of the
Company
HEHR REMT
ERERE
H2021F
12A31H
BRTREZ
BFERENR Bo
FEREERRABEERZ - EEREE BREZHE Percentage of
Number of ordinary shares interested (Ht3¥) issued share
or deemed to be interested Number of capital of
3 RIkER NERER Bt REMT  REMT as at
Family Corporate Options held 31 December
Director interests interests Total (note) 2021
R

Long position

RE AR - - - 5,000,000 0.08%
Cheung Sound Poon

MisE : BAECEREZFIBEHI R XX [EREZ note: Details of Options held are set out in the above section
—ffi o headed “Share Options Schemes”.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE

SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

So far as is known to any Director or chief executive of
the Company, as at 31 December 2021, persons who had
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying shares
of equity derivatives of the Company as recorded in the

regist
were

FEROBE BEBREHR

er required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO
as follows:
H7= 2 A 1820214
12A31HE #1T
BARZE S

Percentage of
issued share
capital of the

Company as at

Number of Number of 31 December
Shares held Options held 2021
1,591,841,912 34.75%
(FfF5E1) (note 1)
20,000,000 0.44%
(FM$5£3) (note 3)
1,341,871,364 29.29%
(FffF7E2) (note 2)
549,280,000 12.00%

(Fff5E2) (note 2)

B

WX EEERARAEG £1,501,841,912/%
B - B HP(a) 249,970,548 &k
BITHEESZHEE YUNELZEER Kb
1,341,871,364 B T E R EH AW E D BT
AR AN83.74% B FEENHAIRTEREKX
@ FITEREEITE=0 22— N 2 RER
MER AR AR -

%HERHHA2014F7B108 2 MK F 4
B 1EAARATERENTE  HARQF
549,280,000/% & 7 (18 & 7201566 A30H A
RAEBETRAN12%) MIFLBEE S QA
(TBEEemAall)  EARBEERESRARIANA
I AL ¢ BERERR QA RK2014F5H30
HEZ (R2015F12A7THKEIREN) HE
i 2 WA o

notes:

Mr. Chi Wen Fu has interest in an aggregate of 1,591,841,912
Shares of which (a) 249,970,548 Shares are beneficially owned
by him and registered in his name; and (b) 1,341,871,364
Shares are deemed corporate interests by virtue of his holding
of 83.74% of the issued share capital of Alpha Sino which
entitled him to exercise or control the exercise of one-third or
more of the voting power at general meeting of Alpha Sino.

As pursuant to a share mortgage agreement dated 10 July
2014, Alpha Sino, being the substantial shareholder of the
Company, had mortgaged 549,280,000 Shares (representing
approximately 12% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 30 June 2015) to International Finance Corporation
(“IFC”) as security for a loan agreement dated 30 May 2014
(as amended and restated on 7 December 2015) entered into
between IFC and Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Co. Ltd.
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2. IFC has interest in an aggregate of 549,280,000 Shares of
which pursuant to a share mortgage agreement dated 10 July
2014, Alpha Sino, being the substantial shareholder of the
Company, had mortgaged 549,280,000 Shares (representing
approximately 12% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 30 June 2015) to IFC as security for a loan agreement
dated 30 May 2014 (as amended and restated on 7 December
2015) entered into between IFC and Baishan City Tianan
Magnesium Resources Co. Ltd.

3. Details of Options held are set out in the above section headed
“Share Options Schemes”.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the period under review, none of the Directors nor the
management shareholders of the Company or their respective
associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”)) had any interest in a business that competed
or might compete with the business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentage of purchases and sales for the year
attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and customers are
as follows:

Purchases

— the largest supplier 4.9%
— 5 largest suppliers in aggregate 26.1%
Sales

— the largest customer 1.3%
— 5 largest customers in aggregate 10.3%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders
which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major
suppliers or customers noted above.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Other than those disclosed in Note 39 to the financial
statements, there was no connected transaction during the
year and in last year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2021.

AUDITORS

The accounts for the year ended 31 December 2021 were
audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited whose term
of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general
meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment of HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited as the auditors of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Chi Wen Fu
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CENTURY SUNSHINE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(IN PROVISIONAL LIQUIDATION)

(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial
statements of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) set out on pages 81 to 219, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of
the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
section of our report, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an
audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In
all other respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Material uncertainties relating to the going
concern basis

As explained in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements, on 3 July 2020, the Company announced (i)
the Company defaulted on the redemption of the SGD
101.75 million in principal amount of the listed subordinated
notes (the “SGD Notes”); (ii) the Company had received
demands from two of its bank creditors for the repayment of
borrowings of the Company and its subsidiary guaranteed by
the Company of approximately HK$51 million plus interest
accrued and believed it was likely to receive further calls from
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its creditors; and (i) a winding up petition has been filed
on 2 July 2020 (Cayman Islands time) to the Supreme Court
of the Cayman Islands together with the application for the
appointment of the joint provisional liquidators (“JPLs”) on a
“light touch” basis for debt restructuring purpose. The JPLs
were appointed pursuant to an order granted by the court in
the Cayman Islands on 14 July 2020 (Cayman Islands time)
and recognised by the High Court in Hong Kong on 28 August
2020 and by the Singapore High Court on 30 November 2020.

In 2021, the JPLs have held creditors’ committee’s meetings
to discuss the development of the provisional liquidation and
restructuring plan. As of the date of this report, no consensus
on any restructuring plan could be reached between the Group
and the creditors and the hearing of the winding up petition
was adjourned to be heard on Monday, 25 April 2022 (Cayman
Islands time) by the Grand Court of Cayman Islands.

Further, as explained in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$1,254,102,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021,
and, as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by approximately HK$1,881,426,000, its
current borrowings amounted to HK$2,146,074,000 as at
31 December 2021, while its cash and cash equivalents
amounted to HK$101,964,000 only. In addition, the
Group could not fulfil certain covenants relating to certain
borrowings of the Group amounting to HK$1,995,673,000
as at 31 December 2021, which have become repayable on
demand of the lenders. Further, included in the borrowings
of the Group as at 31 December 2021 were borrowings of
approximately HK$637,276,000 and in the trade and other
payable for exceeding HK$1 million in aggregate approximately
HK$43,000,000 of which the creditors have commenced
litigations against the Group for repayment of the outstanding
balances and to proceed ruling and freezing on certain
non-core operating assets.
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The conditions described above indicate the existence
of material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The directors have been undertaking certain measures to
improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, as set
out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis, the validity of which depends on the
successful eventual outcome of these measures, which are
inherently uncertain and as at the date of this report cannot be
ascertained with reasonable certainty and are still subject to
multiple uncertainties, including whether (i) the JPLs and the
Company will be able to finalise the proposed restructuring
plan for the restructuring of the debts and liabilities of the
Group after consultations with the creditors’ committee of the
creditors of the Group and the Informal Steering Committee
of the holders of the SGD Notes and obtain the sanctions of
the relevant courts for the schemes of arrangement for the
implementation of the finalised restructuring plan; and (i) the
Group is able to implement further cost control measures on
capital investments, production and administrative operations
to reduce overall operating costs of the Group.

Should the Group fail to achieve successful outcomes from
the above-mentioned plans and measures, it might not
be able to continue to operate as a going concern, and
adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for further liabilities which might arise
and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities
as current assets and current liabilities respectively. The
effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.
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We have not been provided with sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to conclude on the appropriateness of
management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
because management’s plans for future actions in relation
to its going concern assessment could not be finalized yet,
as, although creditors' committee was formed and several
meetings were held, no consensus on any restructuring
plan could be reached between the Group and the creditors
as of the date of this report. Any adjustments found to be
required may have consequential significant effects on the
consolidated net assets of the Group as at 31 December
2021 and the consolidated loss and other comprehensive
income or loss and cash flows of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021, and the related elements and
disclosures thereof presented or disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (the “HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA and
to issue an auditor’s report solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. However, because of the matter described in
the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we
were not able to form an audit opinion on these consolidated
financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Kwok Tsz Chun.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Tsz Chun
Practising Certificate Number: PO6901

Hong Kong, 31 March 2022



3 2021 ANNUAL REPORT

h/;\ O AL
LA BARR

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

HZE2021F12A31H L FE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Bt 5 FET TABT
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
N Revenue 7 1,331,858 2,151,811
& A AR Cost of sales (1,200,336) (1,848,286)
E7 Gross profit 131,522 303,525
H b Y am s 5 185 58 Other gains or losses, net 9 50,533 60,309
HERMISHEE R Selling and marketing costs (34,377) (55,377)
TR S Administrative expenses (205,813) (237,492)
ME - BB MR Written-off of property, plant and
equipment 16 (1,451) (660,000)
EE R E Impairment of goodwill 19 - (46,252)
Y% - BEREERE Impairment of property, plant and
equipment 22 (696,034) =
EAEEERRE Impairment of right-of-use assets 22 (59,215) -
& ERE Impairment of intangible assets 22 (80,362) -
BZRERKFIE - Ze Rk Net allowance for expected credit
H fth & Y5078 78 2B losses on trade receivables,
EEEEBEFE deposits and other receivables 12 (173,111) (147,212)
MHEREBAAEEDH Change in fair value of financial
guarantee liabilities (250) 48,132
bE N ZRSE Exchange differences, net 9,152 (14,115)
5 E R Finance costs 10 (200,301) (179,501)
BR P15 B4 Al E5 48 Loss before income tax 12 (1,259,707) (927,983)
FriefiEe, (FAx) Income tax credit/(expense) 11 5,605 (56,222)
FARIE Loss for the year (1,254,102) (984,205)
THALELEFEREIE : Loss for the year attributable
to:
ViN/NETEZ DN Owners of the Company (1,121,566) (745,368)
FEFE AR B 2w Non-controlling interests (132,536) (238,837)
(1,254,102) (984,205)
BRES : Loss per share:
— FA (L) — basic (HK cents) 15  (24.48)flicents (16.27){licents
- #8858 ~ diluted (HK cents) 15  (24.48){lcents (16.27){licents
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2021 2020
FET FH T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FREBR Loss for the year (1,254,102) (984,205)
Ha2mUE - HBRASH : Other comprehensive income,
net of income tax:
BREBINEBRIES 2 Exchange differences arising from
bE =R translation of foreign operations 124,367 286,738
FREMZEBRA Other comprehensive income
(HOBRFTBH) for the year (net of income tax) 124,367 286,738
FREEMZHARE Total comprehensive
expense for the year (1,129,735) (697,467)
TIHALEEFAZE Total comprehensive
AR expense for the year
attributable to:
ZN/NECIE RSN Owners of the Company (1,019,960) (480,539)
FE 12 AR A 2 Non-controlling interests (109,775) (216,928)
(1,129,735) (697,467)
BERI P s B ANAR S B TS R — 25 The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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2021 2020
Bt 5 FET AT
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current assets
M BE &G Property, plant and equipment 16 3,408,172 3,693,366
WA Investment properties 17 106,055 104,896
FREEE Right-of-use assets 18 232,958 296,330
Bl Goodwill 19 151,116 151,116
mEE Intangible assets 20 291,125 366,511
RIE Mining rights 21 460,715 449,642
RHRITFER Long-term bank deposits 28 - 59
4,650,141 5,061,920
REBEE Current assets
BERARBEFABERZ Equity instruments at fair
il =t value through profit or loss 24 3,906 8,737
ey Inventories 25 357,926 583,002
L5 W IE K E IR E Trade and bills receivables 26 390,324 526,093
T FIE e REM Prepayments, deposits and
A& ] other receivables 27 395,636 581,128
R1TRIR B AR Bank and cash balances 28 112,528 173,595
1,260,320 1,872,555
RBAEE Current liabilities
BoENZBEREMNEE Trade and bills payables 29 180,807 250,061
FEstE R K EMENZKIE Accruals and other payables 30 584,985 290,206
BHBE Contract liabilities 30 220,318 337,126
HEEE Lease liabilities 31 391 514
JET TS %R Income tax payable 9,171 11,724
ERET Borrowings 32 2,146,074 2,065,408
3,141,746 2,955,039
nEBEEEE Net current liabilities (1,881,426) (1,082,484)
EEHERRBAR Total assets less current
liabilities 2,768,715 3,979,436
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2021 2020
Bt 5 FET THT
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
R FE W A Deferred revenue 33 75,018 72,834
H b e 5 5RI8 Other payables 30 48,789 47,907
HEBE Lease liabilities 31 5,823 6,034
R Borrowings 32 - 75,381
EIERIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 34 175,066 190,282
304,696 392,438
EEZEE Net assets 2,464,019 3,586,998
AATEBAEMBRAE Capital and reserves
k#E attributable to owners
of the Company
A% 7% Share capital 35 101,419 101,419
s Reserves 2,246,664 3,259,868
2,348,083 3,361,287
FEERER Non-controlling interests 115,936 225,711
EEEH Total equity 2,464,019 3,586,998

EE 2 N2022F3831 B #t & L ERE R ZEEH Y The consolidated financial statements on pages 81 to 219
F81E210H VA M issRsE » WA No|ESEK  were approved and authorised for issue by the board of

K= directors on 31 March 2022 and are signed on its behalf by:
MBI E kgt
Chi Wen Fu Chi Jing Chao
EF EFE
Director Director
BERTHI s B AR S B S RE ) — 5 o The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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ARRREAER
Attributable to Owners of the Company
EXRE
BF HIBE  iERR BRE
Bx  RGEE (WG (WG (WG B BERE  HtRE  REEW Nt FERER Eh
Capital
redemption Capital ~ Statutory Share Non-
Share Share reserve reserve reserve option Translation Other  Retained controlling
capital  premium (note (i)  (mote (ii)) (note (i) reserve reserve reserve  earnings  Sub-total interests Total
TEx TEx T THr T#r TR Tin Tn TEx TEx T THr
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
20195127318 As at 31 December 2019
R20205151A and 1 January 2020 101,419 1,353,356 4,526 13,666 275,051 32,594 (347,598) (221,707) 2,617,516 3,828,823 441,088 4,269,911
FRER Loss for the year - - - - - - - - (745368  (745368)  (238,837)  (984,205)
EREHZERE Other comprefensive income for the year,
(MBHER) (net of income tax)
BERINERMEL  Exchange differences arising from
ZERER translation of foreign operations - - - - - - 264,829 - - 264,829 21,909 286,738
ER2E(FER)/ Total comprehensive (expense)/income
g for the year - - - - - - 264,829 - (745,368) (480,539) (216928)  (697,467)
KEBARNAR Change in ownership interest of
35 3] subsidiaries - - - - - (657) - 2,006 - 1,449 1,561 3,000
BRI Share option lapsed - - - - - (8,778 - - 3,778 - - -
ERERHE Transfer to reserve - - - - 5,149 - - - (5,149) - - -
REEERGAR Equity settled share-based transactions
325 - - - - - 11,554 - - - 11,554 - 11,554
2020512318 As at 31 December 2020
R202151A18 and 1 January 2021 101419 1,353,356 4,626 13,666 280,200 39,813 (82769  (219,701) 1,870,777 3,361,287 225711 3,586,998
FRER Loss for the year - - - - - - - - (1,121,566) (1,121,566)  (132,536) (1,254,102
EREHZENE Other comprefensive income for the year,
(MBHEHR) (net of income tax)
BERNERMEL  Exchange differences arising from
JEHEE tranglation of foreign operations - - - - - - 101,606 - - 101,606 22,761 124,367
ER2EFER)/ Total comprehensive (expense)/income
i 4 for the year - - - - - - 101,606 - (1,121,566) (1,019,060)  (109,775) (1,129,735)
BAMBRE Share option lapsed - - - - - (1,260) - - 1,260 o - -
ERERE Transfer to reserve - - - - 9,025 - - - (9,025) - - -
REEERGAR Equity settled share-based transactions
LR% - - - - - 6,756 - - - 6,756 - 6,756
Ro0tF123318 As at 31 December 2021 101,419 1,353,356 4526 13666 289,25 45300 18837  (219,701) 741,446 2,348,083 115936 2,464,019
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notes:

(i)

(i)

Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value
of the Shares of the Company which was transferred from
the Company’s retained earnings upon repurchase and
cancellation of Shares by the Company.

Capital reserve represents the difference between the nominal
value of the shares of the subsidiaries that have been acquired
and capitalised pursuant to a group reorganisation over the
nominal value of the Company’s Shares issued in exchange
therefore.

Statutory reserve mainly represents the fund set aside by the
subsidiaries based on 10% of their net profit of the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) statutory financial statements
and that for the purpose of certain safety production activities.

In accordance with the articles of association of the
subsidiaries established in the PRC and the relevant PRC rules
and regulations, these subsidiaries are required to set aside
10% of their profit after income tax as recorded in the PRC
statutory financial statements as statutory reserve, except
where the reserve fund balance has reached 50% of the
subsidiaries’ registered capital. The reserve fund can only be
used to make good the subsidiaries’ previous years’ losses, to
expand the subsidiaries’ production operations or to increase
the capital of the subsidiaries.

Pursuant to certain regulations issued by the State
Administration of Work Safety of the PRC and other relevant
regulatory bodies, the Group is required to set aside funds
mainly for mining of dolomite and serpentine at prescribed
rates. These funds can be used for maintenance and/or
improvements of safety of these activities, and is not available
for distribution to shareholders.
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2021 2020
FET FH T
HK$’000 HK$’000
KEEE Operating activities
B FT 15 %% B 5 18 Loss before income tax (1,259,707) (927,983)
FLRFIIE B fEL FA % Adjustments for:
WrE RE Depreciation and amortisation 220,093 226,056
%8 A Finance costs 200,301 179,501
HEME - BELEHER Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property,
tTH(E ERER (k) S EE plant and equipment and land use
ikl rights (6,577) 8,781
M EHA Interest income (1,477) (6,842)
% 8 4% B R D S 3R Equity settled share-based payments 6,756 11,554
B REWFIEEBEE Net allowance for expected credit
EERE TR losses on trade receivables 173,332 148,021
HthE W IBEHEE Net reversal of allowance for expected
E R E A B R credit losses on other receivables (221) (809)
PMTHEVMBERAREZE Change in fair value derivative financial
guarantee 250 (48,132)
METRABBEEELEY Fair value (gain)/loss arising from
ANRE M) BB derivative financial liabilities (11,905) 613
BARBEFAERZ Loss on change in fair value of equity
BATAZAnBEEEEE instruments at fair value through
profit or loss 4,338 45
BEARBEFABENERATER Loss on disposal of equity instruments
ZEHEE at fair value through profit or loss 56 -
EHENEBRRZBEER Impairment loss recognised in respect
of goodwill - 46,252
R EERR 2 RIERE Impairment loss recognised in
intangible asset 80,362 =
R¥E -~ BE KR EER Impairment loss recognised in property,
NERI= hi] plant and equipment 696,034 =
AMEREEERRZREESS Impairment loss recognised in
right-of-use assets 59,215 -
MWiE & E Written off of intangible asset 80 =
W - BB K& S Written off of property, plant and
equipment 1,451 660,000
EEESEERIA Operating cash flows before movements
KEBHESME in working capital 162,381 297,057
FERL, (35 m) Decrease/(increase) in inventory 198,479 (75,791)
B 5 e Y 30 IE K i I EE 15 A2 0 Increase in trade and bills receivable (36,657) (180,276)
FENIE e REMEIWFRIE Decrease in prepayment, deposits and
YR other receivables 89,514 56,471
B 5 RMNRERENZEERRD Decrease in trade and bills payables (75,806) (68,177)
EErEA - HMEMNRER Decrease in accruals, other payable
TEWEZFE RSN ERD and receipt in advance and contract
liabilities (116,944) (31,376)
BREXBFEANE S Cash generated from operations 220,967 7,908
EATETER Income tax paid (17,746) (57,182)
RETEFRELE(FTRA)® Net cash generated/(used in) from
REeFE operating activities 203,221 (49,274)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
THET TABT
HK$’000 HK$'000
RETE Investing activities
IREUER 1T 3K Withdrawal of deposits with banks 6,083 32,704
BEME  BWEKEE Purchase of property, plant and
equipment (239,609) (471,161)
=2 U Fl 2 Interest received 1,477 6,842
HERAR Jr)\?@ S B A% 2R Proceeds from disposal equity
T A ZFrfs 3 instrument of fair value through
profit or loss 434 =
HEME  MERRENME Proceeds from disposal of property,
B L] plant and equipment 8,195 11,636
RETEFMANESFE Net cash used in investing
activities (223,420) (419,979)
il & SEE Financing activities
T ER TS RIA Proceeds from new borrowings - 564,876
EBEEE Repayment of borrowings (11,502) (668,591)
ERHE Interest paid (29,441) (88,200)
BREEEAE Repayment of lease liabilities (961) (2,587)
1TE BB AR HE PR 15 3R I8 Proceeds from share option exercised - 3,000
MEEEFTANREFE Net cash used in financing
activities (41,904) (191,502)
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2021 2020
FTET FABT
HK$’000 HK$’000
ReRERELEBRDFE Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents (62,103) (660,755)
FINRERERERESIEHE Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year 157,417 785,157
IEERSFHHZE Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes 6,650 33,015
FRNBESRERARELER Cash and cash equivalents at the
end of the year 101,964 157,417
HEREQHEELEHR Analysis of balances of cash and
wEeR o cash equivalents
RE M BARR RS 2 Pledged bank deposits and bank
EEBRITERRIRITR and cash balances as stated in the
Re &R consolidated statement of financial
position 112,528 173,654
BEERAEERENEE Pledged deposits with banks pledged
BRZEEBRITFR as security for borrowings and bills
payable (10,564) (16,178)
WEERF BB E =@ AL 2 Non-pledged deposits with bank with
IR ERITF K original maturity of more than three
months when acquired - (59)
mERERERMI RS R Cash and cash equivalents as stated in
ZRBELIAB the consolidated statement of cash
flows 101,964 157,417

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

BEMIPI B AR A ISR — & D -
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1.
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o ARBROEREBE T ER LT -
EERAB RNRARIZHEBRERAR AT E
RERAR ZARARNEBRELES
e 110D SYAPA/NECTI

GAMBRRIET (BT)) BB
R RN B IR - BIESEHE
TR © B AR T ([ F 3872 ))
SHE -

GENERAL INFORMATION

Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in
fertiliser business, magnesium product business and
metallurgical flux business.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 21 January 2003 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law
3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. On 17 February 2004, the Company’s shares
were listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”)
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) and were withdrawn from the GEM
on 31 July 2008. Since 1 August 2008, the Company’s
shares have been listing on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. In the opinion of the directors, the
ultimate holding company of the Company is Alpha Sino
International Limited, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as
the functional currency of the Company. All values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$’000”) except
when otherwise indicated.
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Winding-up petitions and appointment of
provisional liquidators

On 3 July 2020, the Company announced () the Company
defaulted on the redemption of the SGD 101.75 million
in principal amount of the listed subordinated notes
(the “SGD Notes”) on their maturity on 3 July 2020
(the “Payment Default”) (Note 32 iii); (i) the Company
had received in June 2020 demands from two of its
bank creditors for the repayment of borrowings of the
Company and its subsidiary guaranteed by the Company
of approximately HK$51 million plus interest accrued
and believed it was likely to receive further calls from
its creditors following the Payment Default; and (iii) a
winding-up petition ("Petition") has been filed on 2 July
2020 (Cayman Islands time) to the Supreme Court of the
Cayman Islands on behalf of the Company together with
an application for the appointment of joint provisional
liquidators (“JPLs”) on a “light touch” basis that the board
of directors of the Company (the “Board”) will retain
management of the Company while the JPLs will work
alongside the Company’s management to, amongst other
things, monitor, supervise and oversee the implementation
of a group-wide holistic and coordinated restructuring of
its debts and liabilities (the “Proposed Restructuring Plan”)
including to maintain the listing of the Company on the
Stock Exchange of the Hong Kong Limited.

On 14 July 2020 (Cayman lIslands time), an order was
granted by the Grand Court of Cayman Islands (the “Grand
Court”) for the appointment of Mr. Yen Ching Wai David
and Ms. So Kit Yee Anita of Ernst & Young Transactions
Limited, Mr. Roy Bailey of Ernst & Young Ltd., and
Ms. Tammy Karina Fu of EY Cayman Ltd as JPLs of the
Company with the power to act jointly and severally.
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On 18 August 2020, the Grand Court issued a letter
of request (“LOR”) to the High Court of Hong Kong for
the recognition of the appointment and powers of the
JPLs in Hong Kong to, inter alia, develop and propose
a restructuring plan to allow the Company to continue
as a going concern. The Grand Court also accepted the
resignation of one of the JPLs, Mr. Yen Ching Wai David
on the same day. The JPLs appointment order remains
in force in respect of Mr. Roy Bailey, Ms. Tammy Karina
Fu and Ms. So Kit Yee Anita as JPLs. An application has
been filed by the JPLs to the High Court of Hong Kong
on 26 August 2020 for the recognition of the appointment
and powers of the JLPs pursuant to the LOR. On 28
August 2020, the High Court of Hong Kong has approved
the said application.

An application has been filed by the JPLs to the High
Court of the Republic of Singapore (the “Singapore High
Court”) on 28 October 2020 for the recognition of the
appointment and powers of the JLPs pursuant to the
LOR. On 30 November 2020, the Singapore High Court
has approved the said application.

On 23 December 2020, the Singapore Noteholders have
established the informal steering committee (the “ISC”).
On 7 March 2021, the ISC has appointed an independent
financial advisor (the “IFA”), who sits on the creditors’
committee, together with the ISC, to proceed the follow-up
work. The Proposed Restructuring Plan had been initially
formulated but subject to be negotiated with the creditors.

During the Year, the JPLs have held several creditors
committee’s meetings to discuss the development of
the provisional liquidation and restructuring scheme.
Nevertheless, any determination and implementation
of such scheme shall be subject to the agreement of
the requisite majorities of creditors and the applicable
approval(s) of the Grand Court, the High Court of Hong
Kong, and/or other relevant jurisdictions, if necessary.

As further ordered by the Grand Court, the hearing of the
Petition will be adjourned to be heard on Monday, 25 April
2022 (Cayman Islands time).
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in HKFRS Standards and the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2021 for
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS
9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
- Phase 2

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of
the IFRS Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”)
of the International Accounting Standards Board issued
in June 2021 which clarified the costs an entity should
include as “estimated costs necessary to make the sale”
when determining the net realisable value of inventories.

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are

not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendment to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

Amendments to
HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKAS 12

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Amendments to
HKFRSs

2021.
January 2022.

January 2023.

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments®

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021'

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

Definition of Accounting Estimates®

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction®

Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use®

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract®

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-20207

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date
to be determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all the new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”)
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CQO”).

Going concern

The Group recorded loss of approximately
HK$1,254,102,000 (2020: HK$984,205,000) for the
year ended 31 December 2021, and, as of that date,
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by approximately HK$1,881,426,000 (2020:
HK$1,082,484,000). Further, as at 31 December
2021, the Group’s current and non-current borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$2,146,074,000 (2020:
HK$2,065,408,000) and HK$Nil (2020: HK$75,381,000)
respectively, while its cash and cash equivalents
only amounted to approximately HK$101,964,000
(2020: HK$157,417,000). As stated in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Company had
defaulted in repayment of its listed subordinated notes
of principal amount of SGD101.75 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$593,782,000) plus interests accrued
when they fell due on their maturity date on 3 July
2020 and had received demands from two of its bank
creditors for repayment of the borrowings of the Group
of approximately HK$51 million. The Group could not
fulfil certain covenants of certain borrowings amounting
to approximately HK$1,995,673,000 as at 31 December
2021, which have become repayable on demand and
are presented as current liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The conditions described above indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty that cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Therefore, the Group may be unable to realize its assets
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of
business.

95



96

G R EEERER AT Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited

87} 55 % 2R Bf 5

Notes to the Financial Statements

B ZE2021F12A31H L FE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

ARREEBERAREEHEHZ T &
FEERASERS AR EE REBRHE
(CBERAIIERG ERRBR)EFHNITE
EEREZEM  EMBRFEELENE
IERERERE AR EF TH AR AR
PR EETEMGR > AR A ES K
EUERAITTZEZZEETE  BRETR
RIATEDHEHEEE :

1. ETREEANERARARAEBET
BREBE=ZTREEEEHE

2. ETAURSIERBRER/RAEH
BEREGMERLTHZEREMR
54

8. AHH—ExNEZE="KREH
BRERARA BUA/ARARAEE
RBe ARABEHEFZLEBLR
AEEFEETZETEE -

BEERzERBEAEEKEEREE ([E
BAGE D T AEBRARAEA < R
BRPZ AR ZERANT o FHEIRATEE
XKL RBRABEES AR (BH
WEERPINRBELEESEMAILZ
MR « BAAE R INBOEBHIR o

BEAN s RRRFEIHEARKRE - EERTT
BB 2 BRBUGE — 5 2 AR B FE 1 - AR
EAREEZEBELKAK -

The Company is actively exploring options to
restructure the debts of the Group and has commenced
implementation of a management led restructuring by
taking advantage of the court-supervised provisional
liquidation regime in the Cayman Islands, commonly
known as a “light touch” provisional liquidation, which
gives the Company the benefit of a statutory moratorium
prohibiting the commencement or continuance of any
proceedings against the Company without the leave of
the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands. The Company
is seeking to develop a viable proposed restructuring
plan, including but not limited to some or all of the
followings:

1. equity restructuring to facilitate the raising of cash
for the Company from third party investors through
equity issue;

2. a debt restructuring that may involve refinancing
and/or a compromise or arrangement of the debts
and liabilities of the Group; and

3. potential investment in the Company from one or
more third party investor(s) to facilitate raising of
cash for the Company and potential disposal of
non-core business and non-operating fixed assets
of the Group.

It is proposed that the Proposed Restructuring Plan will
be implemented by way of schemes of arrangement
(the “Creditors’ Scheme”) with the creditors of the
companies in provisional liquidation, including the
Company. The Schemes are likely subject to the
sanction of the Grand Court, the BVI Court (in respect
of the subsidiaries in provisional liquidation which are
incorporated in the BVI), the Hong Kong Court and the
Singapore Court.

In addition, the Company plans to implement further
cost control measures on capital investments,
production and administrative operations to reduce
overall operating costs of the Group.
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The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on going concern basis. These consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends upon
the eventual successful outcomes of the events and
conditions described above, which are inherently
uncertain, including the Group being able to successfully
negotiate and agree with the creditors to renew or
extend the existing borrowings or complete debt
financing to provide funds for the Group to meet its
liabilities as they fall due. This in turn is dependent upon
(i) the JPLs and the Company being able to finalise the
proposed restructuring plan after consultations with
the creditors’ committee of the general creditors of the
Group, the Informal Steering Committee (“ISC”) of the
noteholders of the SGD Notes and the Independent
Financial Adviser engaged to represent the ISC; and
(i) the sanctions of the schemes of arrangement will
be successfully obtained from the relevant courts
referred to above for the implementation of the finalised
Proposed Restructuring Plan.

As at the date of approval for issuance of the consolidated
financial statements, the framework of the proposed
restructuring plan has been initially formulated but
the eventual outcome of the proposed restructuring
plan cannot be determined with reasonable certainty.
Accordingly, the material uncertainty that cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern remains in existence as at the date
of approval for issuance of the consolidated financial
statements. Should the Group be unable to continue
as a going concern, adjustments would have to be
made to the consolidated financial statements to write
down the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets
and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities, respectively. The effects of these adjustments
have not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.

Historical cost basis

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain
financial instruments, which are measured at fair values,
as explained in the accounting policies set out below.
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for assets.
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Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payments, leasing transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 16, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent
periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at
initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements are observable and the significance
of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.
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Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
(including structured entities) controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases
when the Company loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Company
gains control until the date when the Company ceases
to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to being their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(@) The contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the
Company’s profit or loss to the extent of dividends
received and receivables. The Company’s investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related
costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the Framework for
the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements
(replaced by the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued in October 2010).
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At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to
share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree or share-based payment arrangements
of the Group entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see
the accounting policy below);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured at
the present value of the remaining lease payments
(as defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases
were new leases at the acquisition date, except
for leases for which (a) the lease term ends
within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use
assets are recognised and measured at the same
amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted
to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed
as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase gain.
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Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event
of liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at
fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group
in a business combination includes a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration
is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments
that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed
one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured
to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised
in other comprehensive income and measured under
HKFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had disposed directly of
the previously held equity interest.
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If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period
(see above), and additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business (see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or group of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or
any of the cash-generating unit within the group
of cashgenerating units, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes
of an operation within the cash-generating unit (or a
cashgenerating unit within a group of cash-generating
units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured
on the basis of the relative values of the operation
(or the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit (or the group of
cash-generating units) retained.
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Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in
accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.
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A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a
contract are accounted for an presented on a net basis.

Revenue from the processing and sales of fertiliser,
magnesium products and metallurgical flux is
recognised at a point in time when control of the
products has transferred, being at the point the
products are delivered to the customer and the
customer has accepted the products, and there is no
unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when
the products have been shipped to the specified
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customer, and either the customer
has accepted the products in accordance with the
sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed,
or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the
price specified in the contract, net of discounts, returns
and value added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are
delivered and the customers accept the products,
as this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is
required before the payment is due.
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Government Grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will
be received.

Government grants related to income that become
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other gains or losses, net”.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes (other
than construction in progress), are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis
as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production
or for its own use purposes. Construction in progress
is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss.
Construction in progress is classified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property
assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.
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When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial
recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is
accounted for as an operating lease is presented as
“right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of
financial position. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land,
the entire properties are classified as property, plant
and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the item
is derecognised.
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Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and for capital appreciation.

Investment proper ties are initially measured at
cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
investment properties over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account of their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposal. A leased property which
is recognised as a right-of-use asset is derecognised
if the Group as intermediate lessor classifies the
sublease as a finance lease. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss
in the period in which the property is derecognised.
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Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative standalone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components, including contract for acquisition of
ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components,
unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and
instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of machinery and equipment
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption
for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.
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Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless
those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability comprise:

o fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index
or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at
the commencement date;

o the amount expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of purchase options, if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the
options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
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The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the date
of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review/
expected payment under a guaranteed residual
value, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied the practical expedient, the Group
accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.
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Changes in the basis for determining the future
lease payments as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future
lease payments as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform, the Group applies the practical expedient to
remeasure the lease liabilities by discounting the revised
lease payments using the unchanged discount rate
and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related
right-of-use assets. A lease modification is required by
interest rate benchmark reform if, and only if, both of
these conditions are met:

o the modification is necessary as a direct
consequence of interest rate benchmark reform;
and

° the new basis for determining the lease payments
is economically equivalent to the previous
basis (i.e. the basis immediately preceding the
modification).

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has
elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess
whether the change is a lease modification if all of the
following conditions are met:

° the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the
lease immediately preceding the change;

° any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June
2021; and

° there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts
for changes in lease payments resulting from rent
concessions the same way it would account for the
changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes are not
a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease
payments are accounted for as variable lease payments.
The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the
amounts forgiven or waived with a corresponding
adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in the period
in which the event occurs.
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Intangible Assets

Intangible Assets Acquired in a Business Combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. Alternatively, assets with indefinite
useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or
loss when the asset is derecognised.

Technical Know-how

Expenditure on acquired technical know-how is
capitalised and amortised using the straight-line method
over its estimated useful life of 3 to 5 years, from the
date when the technical know-how is available for use.

Trademark
Trademarks are shown at historical cost. Trademarks
acquired in a business combination are recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date and the useful lives are
accessed to be indefinite as the license can be renewed
at little cost.

Patent

Expenditure on acquired patent is capitalised and
amortised using the straight-line method over its
estimated useful life of 9 to 16 years, from the date
when the patent is available for use.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful
lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion
that the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite
is reviewed annually to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful
life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change
in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for prospectively from the date of change
and in accordance with the policy for amortisation of
intangible assets with finite lives as set out above.
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Club membership

Club membership are shown at historical cost. Club
membership acquired in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date and are
not amortised as their useful lives are assessed to be
indefinite and subject to annualised impairment review.

Impairment on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and
intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is
any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss
(if any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and
intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant
cash-generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.
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Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis
to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Mining Rights

Mining rights, including transferred exploration and
evaluation assets, are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. The mining
rights are amortised on the production quantities over
the total estimated mineral reserve. Mining rights are
written off to the profit or loss if the mining property is
abandoned.

Foreign Currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the functional currency (i.e. the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates) at the rates of exchange prevailing at the
dates of the transactions.

At the end of each reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value,
are included in profit or loss for the period.
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For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the rates of
exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period.
Income and expenses are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which
case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity (i.e. the translation reserve)
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving
loss of joint control over jointly controlled entity that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to
non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit
or loss.
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Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement Benefit Costs

Pension Schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The Group also operates a defined contribution staff
retirement scheme registered under the Occupational
Retirement Schemes Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”)
for its employees (including certain directors), the assets
of which are held separately from those of the Group in
an independently administered fund. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the eligible employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
ORSO Scheme. When an employee leaves the ORSO
Scheme prior to his/her interest in the Group’s employer
contributions vesting fully, the ongoing contributions
payable by the Group may be reduced by the relevant
amount of forfeited contributions.
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The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Payments to defined contribution retirement plans are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprises of
cash in hand and demand deposits, and short term
highly liquid investments which are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

Share-based Payment Transactions

Share Options Granted to Employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the
fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share-based payments
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects
the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share-based payments reserve.
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When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
retained earnings.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years, and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to
the extent that is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset
to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end
of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences on initial recognition of the
relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences
arising from subsequent revision to the carrying
amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities,
resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities and
lease modifications, that are not subject to initial
recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.



EAHN R E E R IA B E A KA
B BRERF-HEEEL R —BRN
ERABRZAEHABME  BEEREAER
ENABAHEEERE - HMEERER
BEER

R
FERRARA SR FERENREED
B o AERMMEKM - BREERDR
ERESTREEBOMREMAX - A
i HEFFE - I BR FEEFE M
At EERSTA 2 FT A b aT AN A Jo o & P
A N

EHTR

TRHEENCRAGHESEERKN AT
IﬂAﬁ%YMQTEﬁﬁ%°ﬁ@§F
MMAE —REBHIEXR HERERRK
tﬁwo—“ffhﬁﬁ—&ﬁ%ﬁmj
B EEREEHRARNEENEMEE

= =2
BE-

iﬂé%&iﬂﬁ%?@? N BT

CHMEARIE B S B IS RS R SEA55R AT
W/ﬁimzﬁmnﬁim%%ﬁwmﬁ
ok WS BETEREERESRARBRE
BREMRZEATIR YRR AL B
EESTHBEN AR ERKP K (14
A WEBERAABFAEBZNEHE
EdtRBEEERLERIKAE AR
B PR o

3 2021 ANNUAL REPORT

87} 55 % 2R Bf 5

Notes to the Financial Statements

HZE2021F12A31H L FE
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority. Current and deferred tax is
recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. In the case of work in progress and
finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Cost is
calculated using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion
and costs necessary to make sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument. In addition, the
Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised
cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.

()  Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income
is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a f